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Dear Our Shareholder

Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Co., Ltd. has successfully and steadfastly
overcome numerous challenges throughout the 2024-2025 financial
year. Despite facing various obstacles, the company has managed to
make timely and sound decisions across its operations, leading to many
positive outcomes.

During the year, the operations within the Danyingone Wholesale Market remained stable, ensuring
consistent revenue for the company. At the same time, the company expanded its operations to
provide better services to stakeholders within the market. The company’s primary income sources
included rental fees from shop spaces, market service fees, and other related services, all of which
contributed to the year’s growth in earnings.

In the 2024-2025 financial year, the company achieved an operating profit of MMK 26.69 billion,
marking an increase of MMK 2.29 billion or 9.4% compared to the previous year. This growth was
mainly due to the construction and sale of Medium Wholesale and the expansion of the Market
Building (5) for dry goods wholesale.

Revenue from the market business reached MMK 7.2 billion, representing a 36% increase compared
to the previous year. This improvement was driven by an increase in market visitors and the company’s
ability to provide better services to both sellers and buyers.

Market Building (3) for dry goods has been fully occupied, and due to high demand from wholesalers,
Market Building (5) for dry goods was newly opened. Revenue generated from this new market
building accounted for 9% of the total market revenue.

The company has also continued to strengthen its Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) initiatives.
During the 2024-2025 financial year, total CSR contributions amounted to MMK 2.9 billion, focusing
mainly on education, healthcare, environmental protection, religion, and social development programs.

In addition, to support market sellers and Micro, Small, and Medium Enterprises (MSMEs), the company
collaborated with AYA Bank, A Bank, and UAB Bank to provide low-interest financing. A total of MMK
3 billion in loans was issued, helping merchants expand their businesses, reduce reliance on informal
money lenders, and promote economic growth within the market community.

We are pleased to report that MAEX continues to maintain investor confidence as a listed company on
the Yangon Stock Exchange (YSX). At the end of the financial year, MAEX’s share price stood at MMK
3,250 per share, compared to MMK 1,800 per share upon listing in 2023—representing an increase of
80.56% over two years. In the 2024-2025 financial year, over 388,812 shares were traded, with a
total transaction value exceeding MMK 1,210.06 billion.
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The company remains committed to transparent and timely disclosures as well as sound corporate
governance practices, which are vital in building long-term shareholder trust.

MAEX, under its agreement with the Yangon City Development Committee (YCDC) and with the
approval of the Myanmar Investment Commission (MIC), has been developing a modern wholesale
market project on 82.78 acres of land in Danyingone , Insein Township, Yangon Region. As of now,
approximately 70% of the project’s construction has been completed.

However, this year the company faced a significant challenge. On 19 September 2024, the YCDC
Market Department issued a notice requesting temporary suspension of construction on 20 acres of
the project land, which is currently under retransfer from the Ministry of Industry. As a result,
construction activities were temporarily halted.

The Board of Directors has since submitted clarification to higher authorities, referring to the original
tender approval, the YCDC-MAEX agreement, and the MIC land approval documentation. The company
continues to engage with the relevant authorities to obtain permission to proceed with the project on
the originally approved area. Shareholders will be promptly informed of any updates or material
developments.

To ensure long-term revenue generation and regional economic development, MAEX has also
commenced implementation of the Assembly Market Project in Southern Shan State. This project
represents the company’s first step in expanding operations beyond Yangon, with plans to develop
similar projects in other agriculturally rich regions.

The project aligns with MAEX's founding objective—to reduce unnecessary intermediaries between
farmers and consumers, allowing farmers to sell directly to markets. It aims to benefit both producers
and local consumers, promote agricultural exports to international markets, and provide contract
farming opportunities that enable farmers to produce export-quality crops.

Furthermore, MAEX remains committed to contributing toward the United Nations Sustainable
Development Goals (SDGs). Building upon the solar energy pilot project launched in April 2023, the
company has expanded renewable energy initiatives within the project area. These efforts aim to
reduce carbon emissions, enhance solar energy utilization, and decrease reliance on diesel generators
through targeted investments in solar power systems.

Such initiatives strengthen the company’s energy efficiency and support environmentally sustainable
economic development in the long run.



YMAEX
Chairman’s Statement S an ACRD ExCHAMGE PO 0. 1 ‘
| vemsany ) b FaReA 8§ mopabcieBfionm mygof ieocd

(MAEX‘S Annual Report 2024-2025)

Despite facing numerous challenges, MAEX achieved a Basic Earnings Per Share (EPS) of MMK 292 for
the year ending 31 March 2025. To ensure sustainable growth and address the issue of refunding
buyers of shop houses previously sold on the 20-acre state-owned land, the Board of Directors has
resolved to distribute MMK 90 per share in dividends for this financial year.

The 2024-2025 financial year has been a defining year for MAEX, marked by significant business
growth, transformation, and strengthened commitments toward sustainability. We pledge to continue
supporting Myanmar’s agricultural sector, protecting the environment, promoting social development,
and enhancing shareholder value.

Looking forward, MAEX will continue to contribute to the development of Myanmar’s agricultural
industry through sustainable, environmentally friendly, and socially responsible practices. The company
also plans to establish Cold Storage, Packaging Houses, and Fruit & Vegetable Processing Plants that
meet Good Agricultural Practice (GAP) standards, transforming agricultural products into value-added
goods.

We remain steadfast in our commitment to operate sustainably within Myanmar’s agricultural sector,
deliver high-quality services, and create lasting value for our investors, customers, and all stakeholders.

Win Aung
Chairman
Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Co., Ltd.
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Financial Review Highlights

Revenue By Category
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Annual Benefits to Yangon City Development Committee
Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Company Limited 0005 q§0p8[§|,c0050p50E000meqee05e03 (YCDC)
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Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Company Limited is a Public-Private Partnership (PPP) project with the

Yangon City Development Committee (YCDC). As part of this collaboration, the company annually provides

25% of its annual profit from business operations to the YCDC.

Financial Year

Net Profit Before Tax

YCDC Profit Portion

1 2016-2017 132.59 33.15
2 2017-2018 586.69 146.67
3 2018-2019 587.24 146.83
4 2019 (6mths) 100.82 25.20
2019-2020 507.48 130.06
6 2020-2021 3,031.27 766.14
7 2021-2022(6mths) 1,030.25 263.87
8 2022-2023 4,605.62 1,159.80
9 2023-2024 9,229.72 2,309.01
10 2024-2025 10,230.27 2,559.52
Total 30,041.94 7,540.26
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In addition, a total of 40 buildings, comprising 28 three-story buildings and 12 four-story buildings, are to be
handed over to the YCDC proportionally.

Out of these 40 buildings, 4 three-story buildings and 4 four-story buildings were transferred to the YCDC during
the 2019-2020 financial year. Furthermore, 10 of three-story building completed in the 2023-2024 financial year
was also handed over to the YCDC.
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Visit of Yunnan Delegation (Kunming, Dehong)
from China to Danyingone
Wholesale Market (26.09.2024)

On September 26, 2024, a delegation of 31 members
from Yunnan Province, China (Kunming and Dehong),
consisting of agricultural officials, growers, and
distributors, visited the Danyingone Wholesale Market
as part of the Lancang-Mekong Fruit Festival
(Myanmar) program. The visit was organized as a
market study tour to explore fruit trading activities,
focusing on various fruit sales conditions at the
Danyingone Wholesale Market, and also included
market visits in Myanmar, Thailand, and Cambodia.
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Health Education Awareness by Insein

Township Public Health Department
(8.7.2024)

To raise health awareness among shoppers and
vendors at Danyingone Wholesale Market regarding
the increased risk of diarrheal diseases during the
monsoon season, the Insein Township Public Health
Department conducted a health education awareness
session and displayed educational posters.
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Highlight Of The Year

Site Visit
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Assembly Market Project in Southern Shan State

As part of our commitment to improving agricultural value chains, we initiated the Assembly Market Project in
Southern Shan State. This project aims to establish modern markets for the collection, storage, and trade of
agricultural produce in Kalaw and Pindaya Districts.

To ensure successful implementation, our team conducted site visits to key regional markets, including Taunggyi,
Aung Pan, Pinlaung, Pindaya, Kalaw, Shwe Nyaung, Nyaung Shwe, Heho, Min Kyat Doe, and Htone Taw U. These
visits provided valuable insights into local market operations and stakeholder needs.

In addition, we are engaging with the relevant government authorities to obtain the necessary approvals for
construction and operation of the Assembly Markets.

(Photos: Site visits to Regional Market, Meeting with relevant government and Engagement with Local
Stakeholders, etc.)
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Signing Ceremony of Memorandum of Understanding between MAEX and AYA & UAB Bank
for MSME Loans for Danyingone Wholesale Market Vendors (18.10.2023)

To enable traders operating within the Danyingone Market to access Micro, Small, and Medium Enterprise (MSME)
loans, Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Co., Ltd. (MAEX) signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with AYA
Bank, UAB Bank, and A Bank. In 2023, the program was initiated to provide MSME loans to these traders. During
the previous financial year, a total of 206 traders received MMK 2.6 billion in MSME loans.

With the aim of helping Danyingone Market traders expand their businesses, increase capital, and improve
income, an additional 46 traders are expected to receive MMK 0.4 billion in MSME loans during the 2024-2025
financial year.
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Humanitarian Assistance & Disaster Relief

In 2024-2025, Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Co., Ltd. (MAEX) stood alongside communities facing natural
disasters, extending urgent humanitarian assistance and long-term support.

¢ Flood Relief (July—September 2024):

Relief supplies were delivered to over 765 households in Ayeyarwady and Bago Regions. MAEX and partners
also contributed MMK 500 million to the “Compassionate Support, Hand in Hand... 2024" initiative, supporting
flood-affected families in Shan State.

e Earthquake Relief (March 2025):

In response to the 7.7 magnitude earthquake, MAEX partnered with YRYEA and national authorities to
provide food, clean water, medicines, and safe shelter. Our employees also volunteered on the ground,
strengthening our culture of care and solidarity.
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Marketing Activities of the Year

“"Myanmar Biggest Showcase Exhibition 2024”
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Documentary Photos of Myanmar Agro Exchange
Public Co., Ltd. (MAEX) Promoting Sales of
Danyingone Wholesale Market Shop House
Buildings and Medium Wholesale at the “Myanmar
Biggest Showcase Exhibition 2024” (18-19 May
2024)
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Documentary Photos of Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Co., Ltd. (MAEX) Promoting Sales
of Danyingone Wholesale Market Shop House Buildings and Medium Wholesale at the 3rd

"Hay Man Season Real Estate & Living Style Expo" organized by Builder Mall Expo (28.9.2024
- 29.9.2024).
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A total of 200 large-scale wholesale trading centers/offices/residences, comprising three-story and four-story
buildings, will be constructed in the Danyingone Wholesale Market. Up until the 2024-2025 financial year, a total
of 128 buildings have been constructed. Among these, 73 buildings have been completed, 88.5 have been sold,
and there are 25 buildings that are pre-sold.

Among the sold buildings, some are being opened and utilized as banks, agricultural input supply centers, and

event halls.
D050 2008 ppedizneqEaaznd
JOOE-JOJo | JoJorJoge [JogJ (§8005) JoJrJode | JOR-UedS | JOGUed9
o |6800050p6e5Gax Shop House Go 6 §o &) oo oo
680005090:B26000 Shop House Q0 ) o Go Q@ Q@
eepEiqf: Shop House %99 J° g 269 o9 00.9




CMAEX
n (FRE) BnAa mfobdbonegd Company Progress

(MAEX S Annual Report 2024-2025)

260DZ4 §:05:5E qucs (J) 08 2690005339/ 30§: caNBNWEB:8:9c[g30cs

0008078200506 QH{03R0RE 2200dFG) §08:5E Pes( )00 20680005:0333395:33 (9) () () () 99
6dIE: (6 ) 982 8000dpOaeRd[gdB: Jo G- Jo 5 2256 3208 00edIE: 3268000593) 2098:03 (0) $¢E ()
99GAIC: (GG) 082 00pSee000d(Bs8:G: 32930l3a08:qp3an:d:03 GepC:qd[Bs [gdloopdi

At Danyingone Wholesale Market, Medium Wholesale, a two-story building (1, 2, 3, and 4), totaling 76 units, are
being constructed. By the end of the 2024-2025 financial year, construction of Medium Wholesale 1 and 2,
totaling 44 units, has been completed, and all of the units have been sold.
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MAEX has started e-commerce businesses selling groceries online with the name of Awere Taw in March 2020,
taking the opportunity during Covid -19 first wave. Meat, Fruit, Vegetable, Basic foodstuffs from Danyingone

Wholesale Market can be ordered using the Awere Taw Facebook Page, Awere Taw website & application and
are being delivered door to door in 32 townships in Yangon.

From August 2020, the Awere Taw application was rolled out to a wider range of users via mobile phones, and
from April 2022, the new AWere Taw application will be available for pre-order with new features to make it
easier for online customers to use.
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Company History and Objective

Our company, MAEX, was established on September 14,
2015, after Dagon International Ltd. won the tender to
develop, construct, and manage New Danyingone
Wholesale Market as a Public-Private Partnership (PPP)
model with Yangon City Development Committee
(YCDC), with a commitment in the tender to establish a
public company to carry out the business with Dagon
International Ltd. holding 45% of the shares to start
with and allowing the public to hold shares in the newly
formed company. Dagon International Ltd. is the flagship
company of the Dagon Group of Companies. Dagon
Group of Companies is one of the most highly regarded
and diversified groups in Myanmar. Dagon Company
started its business in 1990 as a trading company and
now operates as a group of companies in various sectors,
which include agriculture, property development and
construction, hospitality management, retail and
distribution, manufacturing, automobiles, food, logistics,
and petroleum.

On March 22, 2016, the Yangon City Development
Committee and MAEX signed an agreement on the
implementation of the Insein Township Danyingone Fruit
and Vegetable and Horticulture Wholesale Market.

MAEX was permitted to IPO as an unlisted public
company by SECM on January 11, 2017.

On September 9, 2017, the Myanmar Investment
Commission (MIC) approved the construction and
implementation of Danyingone Wholesale market was
granted.

On January 30, 2018, the Grand Opening Ceremony of
Phase (1) Danyingone Wholesale was held, and now
there are 2427 wholesalers and retailers in the market.

On July 3, 2023, MAEX was successfully listed as the
eighth listed company of the Yangon Stock Exchange.
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Closing old Danyingone Market and moving to new
Danyingone Wholesale Market
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Business Model of Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Company Limited

Key Partner Key Activities Value Proposition Customer Relationships

e Farmers e Real Estate e Satisfying the consumer e The tenant
e Wholesaler e Market Operator to reach harm free fresh
o Trader products with reasonable | o The shop house and
e Supplier price commercial building buyer | Customer Segments
e Other Retailers e Fulfilling the nutritional o Local farmers,
needs with healthy fresh
Key Resources vegetables, fruits without wholesaler

any chemical residue that O FlEES [ElEest

can harm to consumers’ Engagement Channels * Restaurant

e Location

Working Capital

e Modern Trade
e Manpower healt.h. . e Meeting Distributors
o Time e Exotic Fruits- Upper Class e Social Media
e Basic Fruit and .
e Advertising
vegetables- Middle Class
Cost Structure Revenue Streams

N .
e Infrastructure The rental income

e Construction Cost e Sale of shop house and commercial building

e Safety and health e Utilities

e Cost of maintenance e Parking

e Service Fees

SUPPLY CHAIN

005006001 8odGrap [glgEapobapbop o€ogsap geandionSonan

Manufacture / Grower / Processor Importer Collector

DMA
2

Danyingone
Fruit & Vegetables
Wholesale Market

88:qE:0050909 cocdedcoaHr8a38 &erc005c8aBE [ 028858 GeS0op
Individual Consumer Modern Retailer Traditional Retailer o%egx:osqﬁ DO Exporters

Food Service
opoBepbap
Value added Food
Manufacture Industries



i i \ MYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLI ., LTD.
Corporate Profile And Structure Overview i e o S o a

(MAEX‘S Annual Report 2024-2025)

mygicl 0§canesé wodadandesiap:

MAEX opgael 228mapbesien 206a8:0081 3000:cksE 08sodqpo? 3a00dgIrocsomieepEiondean 0opotiansnnd
om6QE0503 00p5ea0na580e§3[E: [§0a0pdid Brad[gbeomn 2068:000sE 1B 1Eiged eepERASeN Gopss:s
0p5[86¢§e0q$5¢ comEargpiel ofegoBionaSameoqs qpbgudB ofeqr03:0d 0opbeconE[gElgbilaopdi comEap
qpe 0oSupozadopgps [gpSogEiouSeepEndongpist [gpSuadontdeepliqongp: 3agCiqiEs 008:5E00ES: 3§05
32000588[g¢ G036l wOeEiaBionndesmE(gEeoq§yr 3280apdesigqSgdilaopdi vopnpbeivondeot comEop
qpsS GE:035E 00500 05geon Bod§eappdesiglanoytfopgpiel cpeseao dBionodfgentancogsomem
008 3gEBdGreaponadmSqp:adal 8005005t EansE[menqs qpSgudet: [gddloopS
00p0C09§2000507:6Q00d[BE0R0 0YEO0NEAREN 00EeR:ED CVESI:EREBF [§0dlooddi G& condom:
GQEo0d[0B:00d 20§ Es00580056000  0HB:0d$E  !OE:BenEigodyps 30mcksE  §iEEPiod  CLASABSE
coodomzeepEioodeqrrdeSiogpiel 0op5dep[gdoopSomem §E8e05B:g03:000566:08 0erBME:w 2060005
2[g[G: 63908 pemed 200p5:qpisE SomgP:addl comEigSean 3ofraocdeapady §eowpdlgddloodi

Services and Products of the Company

Our Company’s primary business is the Danyingone Wholesale Market, specializing in creating a marketplace for
distributing fruits, vegetables, meat, fish and flowers. The Danyingone Wholesale Market aims to target the development
of underdeveloped sector and improvement of price predictability and farmers’ income. The objective of the investment
will not only be making a profit but also building links between farmers, consumers, local traders and exporters.
Through our business we wish to promote the living standard of farmers and others dependent on agriculture but also
create value added agriculture products and industry.

Danyingone Wholesale Market will be the first wholesale market to be developed by our Company. It will be a diverse
cluster of businesses involved in wholesale trading, fresh fruit and vegetable retailing, business service providers. The
site as a whole plays a critical role in the production of fresh fruits, vegetables, fish, meat and flowers and it will also
contribute to the state’s and the nation’s economy and have a positive impact on local communities and families.
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VISION, MISSION, VALUES

The Board of Directors is committed to ensuring that our organization's vision and mission remain relevant
and aligned with our strategic objectives. In line with this commitment, the Board has established a periodic
review process. We are pleased to report that the Board has conducted a thorough review and approved our
vision and mission statements at least once within the last five years. This review ensures that our guiding
principles continue to reflect our values and goals, steering the organization towards sustained growth and
success.

Myanmar, known for industry leadership, innovation, convenience, quality, and

]

Sev/.  Our VISION

'e‘ e To become the leading fresh food wholesale market and supply chain company in

|
-~ excellence.

e To develop Myanmar's agriculture and horticulture industries and alleviate poverty
among farmers, growers, and sellers.

)<@ ) Our MISSION
e To provide state-of-the-art infrastructure and services, creating a world-class

distribution and marketing hub for fresh produce, including fruits, vegetables,
flowers, and value-added food products.

\ Our VALUES
e CUSTOMER FOCUS

Recognize the importance of customers' needs and goals to our success.

Collaborate with market users to manage assets, meet needs, and support
business growth.

e EMPLOYEE AS COMPANY’S ASSET
Provide a safe, healthy workplace, adhering to international standards.

Foster open communication and collaboration between employees and
management.

Treat employees with respect and dignity, valuing equality and diversity.

Encourage innovation to enhance business value.

e SHAREHOLDER VALUE

Conduct business efficiently to maximize shareholder value.

« STAKEHOLDER VALUE

Integrate social, cultural, and political considerations into business activities.
Acknowledge the legitimate interests of all stakeholders.
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GOALS & STRATEGY

To achieve our goals, we focus on:

Supporting Producers:

Consumer Health:

Waste Reduction:

Market Coordination:

Job Creation:

Economic Growth:

Provide accurate market information to farmers, who make up
70% of the population, improving their market access and
income.

Ensure the availability of fresh, chemical-free products at
reasonable prices.

Minimize production waste to benefit both producers and buyers
financially.

Balance demand and supply to establish an efficient retail and
wholesale distribution system.

Increase employment opportunities in the agriculture sector.

Boost GDP by enhancing the export quantity and value of
agricultural products.

All departments are responsible for developing stakeholder value creation activities, ensuring
informed, consultative, and collaborative decision-making processes.

VR
i 1000 (588! {
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Stakeholders Engagement

Corporate Governance

Our stakeholders are employees, customers, suppliers, investors, organization and other entities that can affect
or be affected by our activities and products. Maintaining an open dialog with our stakeholders is essential to
understanding their interests and expectations. MAEX performs specific actions depending on its activity size,
location and culture and all sites have regular exchanges with local stakeholders such as local authorities.

Investors & analysts

Investors & Analysis
Key Expectations

Customer

Customers Key Expectations

e Ethics & Compliance
e Governance

e Quality

Engagement Channels

Trade show

Conventions, technical seminars
Audits and sites visits

Joint seminars, conferences,
techno days, workshops

e Meetings

Local Partner

Local Key Expectations

e Ethics & Compliance
e Labor and human right
e Waste & Effluent

Engagement Channels

Patnerships

Conferences, conventions, meetings
Sites visits

Donations, training, volunteering,
local initiatives

Industry associations

Industry Associations
Key Expectations

e Governances

e FEthics & Compliance
e Diversity & Inclusion
e Mraket Information

Engagement Channels

e Membership in public-private
partnershps, international
association

e Meeting, conferences, seminars

Health & Safety
Governance

Quality

Engagement Channels

Investors and analysis day
Annual reports

Audits and sites visits
Extra-financial questionnaires

Employees Key Expectations

Quality
Health & Safety
Ethics & Compliance

Engagement Channels

Seminars, conferences, forums

Online meetings

Recognition, awards, contests
Intranet, internet, news, emails, viedos
Training workshops

Employee survey

Application week

Suppliers Key Expectations

e Health & Safety
e Ethics & Compliance
e Labor and human right

Engagement Channels

Metting

Technological roadshow
Audits and sites visits
Extra-financial questionnaires

Media Key Expectations

Company Information
New service and progress
Innovation

Chemicals

Engagement Channels

e Conferences, conventions, meetings
e Press release

National & Local Authorities

National & Local Authorities

Key Expectations
e Quality

e FEthic & Complicance
e Health & Safety

Engagement Channels

Patnerships with municipalities

Annual reports

L]
L]
L]
e Site visits

Meeting, conferences, seminars
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Corporate Governance Objectives

MAEX intends to introduce and practice Coporate Policies, Governance Principle and Guidelines
The key objectives are;

1. to achieve sustainable business growth and investor confidence

2. to create market confidence and business integrity & ethics

3. to ensure stable access to equity capital and to support capital formation and allocation

4

. to improve MAEX's Good Coporate Governance System in line with international best practices and to rise
awareness on the crucial role of Good Coporate Governance within MAEX's Board, staff force and to encourage
each and every member to practice and improve his or her role towards the long-term success and improved
business performance of MAEX.

5. to improve decision- making processes, such as envorimental, anticorruption and bribery,
human rights and social matters.
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Basic Elements of Effective Corporate Governance

MAEX's Corporate Governance adherence to the following basic elements:

Leadership

Legal and Regulatory Compliance

Business Practices and Ethics

Monitoring, Oversight and Risk Management
Performance Management

Disclosure, Reporting and Transparency

N o s W=

Stakeholder Engagement and Communication

Leadership

Stakeholder
Engagement and
Communication

Legal &
Regulatory
Compliance

Business
Practices and
Ethics

Disclosure,

Reporting
and

Transparency

Performance Monitoring,
Management Oversight & Risk
Management

Basics Elements of Effective Corporate Governance by MAEX
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The Myanmar Centre for Responsible Business (MCRB), a joint initiative of the Institute for Human Rights
and Business (IHRB) and the Danish Institute for Human Rights (DIHR), continues to promote responsible
business practices across Myanmar. Since the launch of the Pwint Thit Sa (Transparency in Myanmar
Enterprises) Report in 2014, MCRB has assessed corporate transparency through public disclosures on the
websites of major Myanmar companies. The report, which remains the most comprehensive assessment of
corporate disclosure in the country, has been published annually, excluding 2017.

Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Company Limited (MAEX) has demonstrated a strong and consistent
commitment to corporate transparency and good governance since its establishment in 2018. The company
was first ranked in the 2018 Pwint Thit Sa Report, placing 25th overall due to its proactive approach to
responsible business conduct. In subsequent years, MAEX has steadily improved its performance: ranking
14th out of 248 companies and 3rd among non-listed companies in 2019, and 11th out of 260 companies
while achieving 1st place among non-listed companies in 2020.

In the 2022 Pwint Thit Sa Report, MAEX further advanced to 10th place out of 271 companies. Most recently,
in the 2024 assessment, MAEX was ranked 12th out of 254 companies overall and secured the position of
3rd most transparent listed company in Myanmar.

MAEX Rank in Pwint Thit Sa Report

Myanmar Agro Exchange (MAEX) 2018 | 2019 2020 | 2022 | 2024
Rank ( Among listed companies) 3
(Start from 2024 Assessment)
Rank ( Among non- listed companies) - 3 1 1
Rank (Among over 200 companies) 25 14 11 10 10
Corporate Profile 71% 46% 85% 76% 76%
Corporate Governance 6% 20% 64% 75% 75%
Criteria Sustainability Management 0% 31% 44%, 51% 51%
Communication 20% = = = =
Reporting 0% 21% 39% 50% 50%
Score 12% 28% 52% 60% 56%
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U Win Aung is the Non- Executive Chairman of MAEX. U
Win Aung founded and continues as the Chairman of
the Dagon Group of Companies since its establishment
in 1990. Since 1993, Dagon Group of Companies has
successfully implemented property development
projects. Dagon Group of Companies engages in wide
range of business in general trading, timber business,
residential and commercial development such as
shopping malls, hotel development, integrated
agricultural development, value added food industry,
logistics and distribution, automobile distribution,

petroleum distribution, and in other business sectors.

(MAEX‘S Annual Report 2024-2025)

U Win Aung is currently the Chairman of Myanmar
Thilawa SEZ Public Holdings Public Co., Ltd. He is one of
the initiators and the lead negotiator & founder
Chairman for Myanmar Private Sector’s involvement in
the implementation of the Thilawa SEZ jointly with the
Japanese investors, to create investment opportunities

for Myanmar Citizens.

U Win Aung is acting as the Chairman of Myanmar
Japan Thilawa Development Ltd (MJTD), a Myanmar-
Japan joint venture company which was established for
the implementation and acceleration for the investors of

the Thilawa Special Economic Zone.

He is also the Chairman and one of the Promoters of
Golden Land East Asia Development Ltd. (GLAD), a
public company engaged in general trading and
investment.

U Win Aung served as President of UMFCCI from 2011
to 2016, Chairman of ASEAN Business Advisory Council
(ABAC) from 2013 to 2014 & Chairman of Greater
Mekong Sub-region Business Forum (GMS-BF) from
2002 - 2004 and 2012 - 2014. He was also one of the
members of the National Economic and Social Advisory
Council ("NESAC") and UN-ESCAP Advisory Council.U
Win Aung has been serving as Chariman of MAEX since
2015.
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U Sit Lwin is the Non-Executive Vice Chairman of our company and also a member
of the Compliance Committee. With extensive expertise in the gold commodity
trading sector, he established Moe Ma Kha Gold & Jewelry, a market-leading gold
jewellery business, in 1996. Over the past 20 years, he has effectively managed
a nationwide distribution network specializing in the manufacture and wholesale
of gold jewellery. Additionally, he held a significant role as a committee member

within the Yangon Gold Association.

Furthermore, U Sit Lwin is the founder of Willow Myanmar Investment Co., Ltd,
which strategically invests in various sectors including hotels and tourism,
commodity trading, and infrastructure businesses such as Myanmar Thilawa SEZ

holdings.

In 1981, he earned a Bachelor of Economics Degree from the Yangon Institute of

Economics.

Since 2015, he has served as the Vice Chairman of MAEX.
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U Min Sein is the Non-Executive Vice Chairman of our company and also a
member of the Compliance Committee. Additionally, he holds a directorial position
at Golden Land East Asia Development Ltd (GLAD). He previously served as a
director at First Private Bank Ltd. for three years and played a pivotal role in

establishing the Hindatha Bank Branch of First Private Bank Ltd.

U Min Sein is actively involved in various business sectors, including operating Let
Saung Mon Mini Markets in Hinthada City, trading seasonal fruits, running a
brewery in Kyaung Kone City, operating Microfinance and Motels at Chaung Tha
Beach, managing Mobile Top Up Card Distribution Services, and overseeing City
View Real Estate and Property Services in Yangon. He graduated from Yangon

Workers’ College with a B.A. in Philosophy in 1977.

He has been serving as a director at MAEX since 2015.
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Daw Yan Lin serves as a Non-Executive Director and a Management Committee

G$T61$G\)S° member at MAEX. Additionally, she holds a directorial position at Golden Land
East Asia Development Ltd. Furthermore, she is the managing director of San
Daw Yan Lin Thit Lwin Company Limited, which specializes in the distribution and sale of

Vice-Chairman textiles. She graduated from the University of Mandalay with a degree in History.

Daw Yan Lin has held the position of director at MAEX since 2015.
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U Thaung Tin is the Deputy Department Head, Markets Department of the
U Thaung Tin Yangon City Development Committee (YCDC). He holds a Bachelor of Arts (B.A)
YCDC degree in Myanmar Literature. He served in the Military from 1991 to 2004 and
Representative Director in 2004, he retired as Major. From 2004 to 2014, he served as the assistant

department head in the production department, Environmental Conservation
department and Sanitation department.As of now, he is the Deputy Department
Head of the Markets Department.

U Thaung Tin has been serving as the Representative Director of the
Yangon City Development Committee at MAEX since 2015. He is also a member
of the company's Audit and Risk Management Committee and the Management

Committee.
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U Thurane Aung has been a Non-Executive Director of MAEX and also appointed
as chairman of Management Committee of the company. His diversify experiences
came from more than 17 years of service in Dagon Group, which is one of the
leading conglomerates in Myanmar with diversified businesses in sectors that
include property development and construction, hospitality, timber, agriculture,
commodity trading, plantation, retail and distribution, petroleum, automobile and
food processing.

He also contribute much of his time for the development of the different business
sectors he is in by joining the Executive Committee Member of Myanmar
Construction Entrepreneur Association (MCEA), Vice-President of Yangon Region
Young Entrepreneur Association (YRYEA). He holds a Bachelor of Arts (Honors)
in Business Information Management & Finance, which he obtained from the
University of Westminster, United Kingdom in 2004. He is also a winner of the
esteemed title of “Asia’s Most Admirable Young Leaders” at the prestigiouos Asia
Corporate Excellence & Sustainability Awards (ACES) 2021.
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U Phone Phone Naing is a Non-Executive Director of MAEX and also serves as a

member of the Audit and Risk Management Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, and the Compliance Committee. He currently serves as the Managing
Director of the distribution arm of Dagon Group and brings valuable experience
in the trading business. He brings extensive experience in recognizing and
understanding consumers' needs and preferences, acquired through years of

working in the industry.

Through the Global Sky Company, he has expanded the business portfolio into
personal hygiene products (from Japan/Thailand), personal care products (from
the Philippines), fruits and vegetable drinks (from Thailand), and food and
beverage products (from the Philippines/US), as well as locally grown and

manufactured food.

He completed his BA in Economics from Knox College, Galesburg, Illinois, United
States.

U Phone Phone Naing has been serving as a director of MAEX since 2015.
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Daw Aye Aye Aung is a Non-Executive Director of MAEX and also serves as a member of the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee, and the Compliance Committee.

Daw Aye Aye Aung holds a Bachelor's Degree in Engineering in Electronics and is a certified Professional Engineer (P.E)
issued by the Myanmar Engineering Council. In 2014, she also received the ASEAN ENGINEER Certificate issued by the AFEO
Governing Board in Brunei. Additionally, she holds an M.B.A from the University of Economics (Yangon) obtained in 2012.
She joined Asia World Co., Ltd. in 1995 and held the position of Director of Asia World Industries until 2009, overseeing
operations such as the PP Woven Bag Factory and the Myanmar Paper Mill Factory.

Currently, she serves as the Managing Director of Asia Mega Link Co., Ltd. and as the Director of Asia Mega Link Services
Co., Ltd. Since 2009, she has been actively involved in IT-related businesses, including the installation, implementation, and
maintenance of Mobile hubs, Telecommunications Centers, Fiber Optics cables, and the manufacturing and distribution of
phone bill top-up cards. Additionally, she is an Executive Committee member in the IT sector of the Yangon International
Airport and serves as a director of Yatanarpon Teleport Public Co., Ltd.

The companies she is involved in participate in various businesses, including Manufacturing and Trading, IT-related businesses
such as installation, implementation, and maintenance of Mobile hubs, Telecommunications Centers, and Fiber Optics cables,
as well as the manufacturing and distribution of phone bill top-up cards. They also engage in Telephone and Mobile network
services, IT-related development projects in the Yangon International Airport, technological advancements in airports, ports,

and transportation sectors, and several other diverse business sectors.
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U Sai Tun Win is a Non-Executive Director of MAEX and the Chairman of North
East Gate Fruit Public Company Limited and is a patron of the Muse City Fruits

Wholesaler Association.

From 1980 to 1981, he was involved in the Gems mining business in Mogok City.
In 1982, he was extened in the Agriculture and Livestock businesses and
distributed the products to Mandalay. He served in the Ministry of Cooperatives
for (4) years. In 1988, he started fruits trades business in Muse City where which
he exported Papaya and Mangoes to Shwe Li, City in China. In 1995, the Muse
City Fruits Wholesaler Association was founded and he served as the Chairman
starting from 2000. In 2015, North East Gate Fruit

Public Limited was formed by 15 Fruits wholesalerswhere he has been the
Chairman since the establishment of the public company. In addition, he is also
the Chairman of Shwe Fruits and Vegetables Agriculture Company and Taiwan
Wholesalers Warehouse.U Sai Tun Win served as the Vice Chairman of the Muse
City Fruits Wholesaler Association from 2007 to 2017 after which he now serves

as an patron.
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U Htun Aung is a Non-Executive Director of Myanmar Agro Exchange Public
Limited and has been serving as a member of the Nomination Committee since
27th August 2024

He is the Managing Director of Golden Land East Asia Development Company
Limited. He is also one of the founding members of Myanmar Nyunt Company
Limited, which was established in May 1989, and he continues to serve as its
Managing Director. Myanmar Nyunt Company Limited is engaged in the export of
various value-added pulses and beans, as well as rubber plantation and production

businesses.

U Tun Aung was a Central Executive Committee (CEC) member of the Union of
Myanmar Federation of Chambers of Commerce and Industry (UMFCCI) from
April 1999 to December 2019.
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Independent Directors

Our Company has four independent directors who can independently act and who are not required to holde any
qualifying shares, nominated by the Board of Directors, and appointed by the Shareholders of the Company so
as to protect the interests of the stakeholders of the Company. Such shall be the persons who have no relationship
with the Company, its related corporations, its Shareholders or its officers and who could interfere or be reasonably
perceived to interfere with the exercise of the Director’s independent business judgment with a view to the best
interests of the Company. They shall have the same rights and duties as other Directors.

Our independent directors play a crucial role in maintaining the integrity and objectivity of our Board. We are
committed to ensuring that these individuals remain independent of both management and major shareholders.
We are pleased to confirm that our independent directors fulfill all independence criteria, operating free from any
influence or association that could compromise their unbiased judgment. This independence is fundamental to
our governance practices and supports our dedication to upholding the highest standards of corporate governance.
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U Aung Nyunt is a Non- Executive Independent Director of our Company and is
also the Chairman of the Audit Committee. He has 40 years of experience
working in the treasury department of Myanmar Timber Enterprise and retired as
General Manger (Planning). He has served as a director (Finance) in public
companies such as [Timber and Timber Related Products Corporation Limited]

and National Industrial Holdings Co. Ltd.

He has participated in several workshops and seminars on financial management
in different countries. As a financial consultant, he has implemented and initiated
Standard Operating Procedures in terms of treasure and finance in three major
companies. He has worked as an independent auditor for the UMFCCI and the

Myanmar Engineering Society from 2008 to 2013.

He graduated from Yangon Economics University in 1964 and holds a degree in
Accounting. He is also a Certified Public Accountant accredited by the Myanmar

Accounting Council.

U Aung Nyunt has held the position of independent director at MAEX since 2016.
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Dr. Zaw Oo

Independence Director

Dr. Zaw Oo is a Non-Executive Independent Director and Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee. Currently, he serves as the Chief Director for the
Centre for Economic and Social Development, where he oversees developmental
research and training initiatives. From 2012 to 2016, he served as the Economic

Advisor to the President.

Dr. Zaw Oo holds a master’s degree in International Development Studies from
Columbia University, as well as master’s and Ph.D. degrees in Finance from
American University, Washington D.C.

Prior to this, from 2006 to 2011, he served as the rector for research and taught
International Studies at Chiang Mai University. He has been actively involved in
researching economic changes and policies in ASEAN countries and has
participated in over 30 international conferences relating to economic and
democratic changes.

He has held the position of an independent director at MAEX since 2016.
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Daw Tin May Oo served as a Commission Member of the Securities and Exchange
Commission from its formation in 2014 until 2022. She played a significant role
in the establishment of the SECM and the Yangon Stock Exchange, as well as in
the drafting of the Securities Exchange Law and related rules. She served as a
member of the Legal Advisory Board of the Ministry of Planning and Finance from
16 August 2023 to 15 August 2024.

Prior to this role, she accumulated 27 years of experience in the Project Appraisal
and Progress Reporting Department of the Myanmar Ministry of Planning and
Finance. In 1996, she was assigned to form the Myanmar Securities Exchange
Center Co. Ltd. (MSEC), where she served as Board Secretary-cum-Deputy
Director and later as Executive Director.

Daw Tin May Oo holds a Bachelor's degree in Economics (Agriculture Economics)

and a Master's degree in Development Studies.

Daw Tin May Oo has been serving as an Independent Director of MAEX and
Chairperson of the Nomination Committee since 2023.
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Independence Director
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U Htay Chun served at the Planning Department for 22 years, from 1972 to 1994,
and at the Directorate of Investment and Companies Administration for 16 years,
from 1994 to 2010, under the Ministry of National Planning and Economic
Development. He retired as the Deputy Director General of the Directorate of
Investment and Companies Administration in 2010. He has 38 years’ experience

as a Government Officer.

After retirement, he also served as a Commission member of the Securities
Exchange Commission of Myanmar for 8 years, from 2014 to 2022, and as a
Commission member of the Myanmar Investment Commission for 5 years, from
2016 to 2021.

U Htay Chun holds B. Econ (Statistics) in 1971 and Diploma in Economic Planning
in 1979 from Yangon Institute of Economic and Registered Lawyer from Ministry
of Education in 1981.

He has held the position of an independent director at MAEX since 2024.
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Annual Performance Assessment of our management person

The Board of Directors remains committed to upholding the highest standards of leadership, governance, and
accountability. In line with this principle, the Board conducts an annual performance evaluation of the Company’s
C-Level executives to ensure alignment with strategic objectives and to reinforce long-term sustainable growth.

For the financial year under review, the Management Committee and the Remuneration Committee convened on 10
February 2025 to assess the performance of the executive team. The evaluation emphasized key areas including
operational efficiency, cost management, productivity enhancement, process optimization, and adherence to
departmental KPIs. In addition, the assessment considered customer satisfaction, market competitiveness, and the
effectiveness of risk management practices.

The Company’s performance outcomes for the year reflected both challenges and achievements across different
business segments:

o Revenue Growth: +9.42%

o Shophouse Sales: -20%

° Business Expansion: +100%
o Rental Income: +36%

These results highlight the Company’s continued resilience in core revenue streams, supported by strong rental income
and notable progress in business expansion initiatives. While shophouse sales experienced a decline, overall revenue
growth was sustained, underscoring the effectiveness of management strategies in navigating market conditions and
driving long-term shareholder value.
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U Aung Gyi is CEO of MAEX. He is also serving as a Director in Dagon Group of
Companies. He has been in nationwide logistic while serving in various position

under the Timber Department in Dagon Group. Prior to joining Dagon Group, he
§°G 37)8@° worked at the Office of Auditor General for almost 7 years.

. He gained Bachelor Degree for Commerce from Yangon Institute of Economics
U Aung Gyi in 1984,
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U Myo Thaw Khaing

U Myo Thaw Khaing is Chief Financial Officer of MAEX. Prior to join MAEX, he
worked at Glass Factory (Thanlyin) as an Accountant for 5 years, Planning
Department, Ministry of Planning and Finance as Deputy Planning Officer for 6
years, Berger Paints Manufacturing Co., Ltd., NIBBAN Electric and Electronics,
RedLink Communications Co., Ltd., and Diamond Palace Group of Companies up
to Financial Controller. He holds the B. Com degree from Institute of Economics
(Yangon) in 1982 and Master of Business Administration (MBA) degree from
University of The Thai Chamber of Commerce in 2014. He also received the
Accounting, Cost Accounting Third Level Certificate from London Chamber of
Commerce and Industry and Internal Quality Audit Certificate from BM TRADA
(MALAYSIA) SDN BHD.
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] ] Daw Khin Khin Maw is the Chief Accountant of MAEX. She is the Chief Accountant
Daw Khin Khin Maw of No. 2 Plywood Factory and Ruby Lion Company Ltd as a joint product for 12
years. She then worked for Global Myanmar Services Co., Ltd for 5 years. She

graduated from Yangon Economics University in 1964 and holds a degree in
Accounting. She is also a Certified Public Accountant accredited by the Myanmar
Accounting Council. In December 2016, she received his Diploma in International
Financial Reporting from ACCA, UK. Daw Khin Khin Maw has been the Chief
Accountant of MAEX since November 2016.
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Board Committees

Our Directors recognize the importance of corporate governance and the maintenance of high standards of accountability
to our shareholders and have adopted the Corporate Governance Policies, Principles, and Guidelines. Our corporate
governance practices are generally consistent with prevailing international principles, to the extent reasonably
practicable, taking into account local conditions in Myanmar. Different Board Committees are responsible for reviewing
the performance of the chairman, board of directors’ CEO, and C-level executives on an annual basis and reviewing
and approving the organizational vision, mission, and value annually.

Our board has established (5) committees: (a) the Audit and Risk Management Committee; (b) the Nomination
committee; (c) the Remuneration committee; (d) the Compliance committee and (e) the Management committee.
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Independence Directors

Our company appointed U Aung Nyunt, Dr. Zaw Oo, Daw Tin May Oo and U Htay Chun as independent directors in the

8th annual general meeting to make the Board stronger and more independent.
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Board Committee

Audit and Risk Management Committee

The Audit and Risk Management Committee consists of U Aung Nyunt, U Thaung Tin, and U Phone Phone Naing. The
Chairman of the Committee, U Aung Nyunt, is an Independent Director of MAEX.

Our Audit and Risk Management Committee will assist our Board in discharging its responsibility to safeguard our
assets, maintain adequate accounting records, develop risk management to ensure good corporate governance,
safeguard shareholders investments, and maintain effective systems of internal control, with the overall objective of
ensuring that our management creates and maintains an effective control environment in our Company. Our Audit
Committee will provide a channel of communication between our Board, our management, and our external auditors
on matters relating to audit. The Committee reviews and implements the Code of Conduct in accordance with the
corporate governance policies of Myanmar Agro-Exchange Public Company Limited.

From April 2024 to March 2025, the Audit and Risk Management Committee Meeting was held a total of six times: on
30 April 2024, 7 May 2024, 11 June 2024, 14 June 2024, 6 November 2024, and 16 December 2024.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is composed of Daw Tin May Oo, U Htun Aung, and Daw Aye Aye Aung, with Daw Tin May
Oo serving as the Chairperson. Daw Tin May Oo is an independent non-executive director of the company.

Our Nomination Committee is responsible for (a) the re-nomination of our Directors having regard to a Director’s
contribution and performance; (b) determining annually whether or not a Director is independent; and (c) deciding
whether or not a director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his duties as a Director.

The Committee decides how to evaluate the Board’s performance and proposes objective performance criteria, subject
to the approval of the Board, that address how the Board has enhanced long-term shareholder value. The Board
intends to implement a process to be carried out by the Nominating Committee for assessing the effectiveness of the
Board as a whole and the contribution of each individual Director to the effectiveness of the Board. Each member of
the Nominating Committee is required to abstain from voting on any resolutions, making any recommendations, and/
or participating in any deliberations of the Nominating Committee in respect of the assessment of his performance or
re-nomination as Director.

From April 2024 to March 2025, the Nomination Committee Meeting was held on 23rd August 2024, 27th August 2024
and all committee members attended without absence.
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Remuneration Committee

Our Remuneration Committee consists of Dr. Zaw Oo, U Phone Phone Naing and Daw Aye Aye Aung. The Chairman of
the Remuneration Committee is Dr. Zaw Oo. Dr. Zaw Oo is an independent non-executive director director of MAEX.

The committee also recommends to our Board a framework of remuneration for our Directors and key executives and
determines specific remuneration packages for each Director and key executive. The recommendations of our
remuneration committee, including but not limited to Directors’ fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options, and
benefits in kind, shall be covered by our Remuneration Committee. Each member of the Remuneration Committee is
required to abstain from voting on any resolutions, making recommendations, and/or participating in any deliberations
of the Remuneration Committee in respect of his remuneration package.

From April 2024 to March 2025, the Remuneration Committee Meeting was held on 21 June 2024, 23 June 2024, 26
December 2024 ,10 February 2025, 28 March 2025 and all committee members attended without absence.
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The Compliance committee

Our Compliance Committee comprises U Htay Chun, U Min Sein , and U Sit Lwin. U Htay Chun , an independent
director, serves as the Chairman of the Compliance Committee.

Our Compliance Committee is responsible for (a) ensuring that the company complies with all applicable laws,
regulations, and internal policies, (b) overseeing the implementation of corporate governance standar ds and ethical
practices, and (c) monitoring and assessing risk management and internal control systems to ensure they are effective
and aligned with the company’s objectives.

From April 2024 to March 2025, the Compliance Committee Meeting was held on 25 July 2024, 2 October 2024, 7
November 2024, and 13 November 2024.
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Management Committee

Our Management Committee comprises U Thurane Aung, U Thaung Tin, Daw Yan Lin, U Phone Phone Naing, Daw
Aye Aye Aung, and U Aung Gyi. U Thurane Aung is the Chairman of the Management Committee.

Our Management Committee is responsible for (a) formulating short-term and long-term strategies that will guide the
company in the ideal direction that the Board and stakeholders alike envision the company to be in. (b) Delegating
and managing employees in a manner that is in line with the company’s values and principles (c) Ensuring the effective
management of the organization and its activities

From April 2024 to March 2025, the Management Committee Meeting was held on 26 December 2024 and 10 February
2025.
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For MAEX Public Company Limited, the types of decisions requiring Board of Directors' approval are generally disclosed.
This is in accordance with the Myanmar Companies Law 2017 and corporate governance guidelines, which emphasize
transparency and accountability. Key decisions that typically require board approval include:

Financial Decisions: Approval of annual budgets, financial statements, and significant financial expenditures.
Strategic Decisions: Long-term strategic plans, mergers and acquisitions, and major business ventures.
Governance Decisions: Changes in governance policies, board appointments, and executive compensation.

Risk Management: Policies related to risk management and compliance with regulatory requirements.
Operational Decisions: Major operational changes, such as entering new markets or significantly altering business
operations.

vk W

The Board of Directors of our company regularly discusses and reviews the impact and challenges posed by various
factors affecting the company. During Board of Directors meetings, our directors evaluate the implications of market
conditions, regulatory changes, strategic initiatives, political uncertainty, exchange rate risk, and operational issues to
ensure informed decision-making and effective governance.

During the 2024-2025 financial year, the Board of Directors has convened meetings to ensure that the company's
performance and activities align with its vision. Board meetings were held on the following dates: 21 June 2024, 23
August 2024, 27 August 2024, 20 December 2024, and 28 March 2025.
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Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Company Limited the 8" Annual
General Meeting

On 27t August 2024, 8™ Annual General Meeting of Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Company Limited (MAEX) was held
online based event. The event was held successfully with 85.41% shareholding for their voting rights, the 142 online
registered shareholders who owned 20,332,418 shares (Twenty millions, three hundred thirty-two thousand, four
hundred eighteen shares).

From shareholder who attend
AGM

Announcement and Resolutions

Voting Result %

1 Among the attendees of the Annual General Meeting, the shareholders who

owned 19,273,911 shares were in agreement and approved the Company’s FY

2023-2024 Board of Directors’ report, financial statements, and audit report. Passed 100%
According to the financial statement as of March 31, 2024, shareholders were
2 notified of the decision to distribute dividends starting from September 6,
Passed 100%
2024, at the rate of 200 kyats per share owned by the shareholders as
dividends.
3 Among the attendees of the Annual General Meeting, the shareholders who
Passed 100%

owned 19,273,911 shares agreed and approved the rewarding of 1.5% of the
net profit of FY 2023-2024 as a Board of Directors (BOD) Bonus to the Board.

4 Election of the Company’s Board of Directors and re-appointment of
independent directors.

According to Section 173 (b) of the Myanmar Company Law, three directors
have resigned, and there are only three nominees for director positions.
Shareholders were informed that voting is unnecessary.

List of resigned directors:

(1) U Win Aung

(2) U Kyaw Tin Myint Passed 100%
3) U Sai Tun Win

List of Nominated directors:
(1) U Win Aung

2) U Tun Aung

3) U Sai Tun Win
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From shareholder who attend

AGM

Announcement and Resolutions
Result Voting Result %

B Announcement of the Board of Directors for Myanmar Agro Exchange
Public Company Limited for the 2024-2025 financial year.

Directors are:

(1) U Win Aung

(2) U Sit Lwin

(3) U Min Sein

4) U Phone Phone Naing

(5) U Sai Tun Win

(6) U Tun Aung

(7) Daw Aye Aye Aung Passed 100%
(8) Daw Yan Lin

(9) U Thurane Aung

@ Among the attendees of the Annual General Meeting, the shareholders who
owned (19,273,911) shares, were agreed and approved for confirmation of
the appointment of (4) Independent directors for 2024- 2025 Financial
Year.

3 Independent directors are:

1. U Aung Nyunt

2. Dr. Zaw Oo
3. Daw Tin May Oo
4. U Htay Chun
D The Representative Director of Yangon City Development Committee Passed 100%

(1) U Thaung Tin (Director, Markets & Commodities Center Department)

5 Among the attendees of the Annual General Meeting, the shareholders who
owned 19,273,911 shares agreed and approved the reappointment of Win
Thin and Associates as the Company’s auditor and the approval of the
Auditor Fees by the Board of Directors for the Financial Year 2024-2025.




(MAEX'S Annual Report 2024-2025)

Board of Directors’ Interest in Shares (2024-2025)

Sr. No Name

Number of shares

Percentage %

OMAEX _
) e post oo Shareholders Information
| Ehnmol ) oyt S myol e

Remark

U WIN AUNG (DAGON INTERNATIONAL LIMITED)
B:o€:eam8 (30§3C0m65qE$05 88000d)

U Tun Aung (GOLDEN LAND EAST ASIA DEVELOPMENT LIMITED)
BipSieant (egSEeamngg [Bpodonadeas opgaRaddonnd)

U SIT LWIN
Bioboyg

U THURANE AUNG
Brogifecnt

DAW YAN LIN
cdl q§c0t:

U PHONE PHONE NAING
Bropdiopd:Re

U MIN SEIN

8108:8§

U SAI TUN WIN (NORTH EAST GATE FRUIT CO., LTD.)
B:B8C:098:0Cs (2064, 6[gp0P0ddk 20533: orgaBd8000d)

DAW AYE AYE AUNG
¢4l 630:630:63:0E

10,416,378
00,696,0Q

2,200,000

JrJO0,000

668,431
GEo,gpo

612,728
Go 9 e

567,503
96909
534,745
995959

215,079
JOOOE

111,405
009,G0§)

79,951
WEEI

15,406,220

0g,G06, J Jo

43.76%
G0.96%

9.24%
E:J5%

2.81%
J.oo%

2.57%
J.gq%

2.38%
J.Qo%
2.25%
Jh Jg%

0.90%
0.0%

0.47%
o.gq%

0.34%
0.96%

64.72%
5.9 %
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Top (10) Major Beneficial Shareholders (up to 31.3.2025)

Certificate of
Incorporation/number of
certificate of citizenship

Number of shares | Percentage %

1 DAGON INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 115393715 10,416,378 43.76%
(308328omesqEs0S c880n0d) 00,696,q0 Go-qQk%
2 GOLDEN LAND EAST ASIA
2,200,000 9.24%
DEVELOPMENT LIMITED R o000 -
(eg8EesmgQ [Bpodonndes;: 0rgBn88oond)

3 U SIT LWIN 668,431 2.81%
Bi060g6 14/PATHANA(N)150674 BEe,Goo J00%
4 U THURANE AUNG AT IEIEE 612,728 2.57%
B:andSeant N) Go,q e J9Q%

5 WILLOW MYANMAR INVESTMENT
COMPANY LIMITED. AT 605,000 2.54%
?8((\5)(\%: E$¢J) 8’38@)008(508)9% O?gmg Gog,000 J-95%

0880005

6 DAW YAN LIN 1/MANYANA(N)027160 567,503 2.38%
edlqSco: 969,900 J:00%
7 U PHONE PHONE NAING 9/MANAMA(N)007593 534,745 2.25%
B:0n§2008:8E 995959 J-J9%
8 MYANMAR CREATIVE BUSINESS 440,000 1.85%
GROUPS CO.,LTD ezherie 60,000 0.09%
9 DAW KHIN HTAR WIN AR 361,151 1.52%
cdloCoonzo8s 960,090 0.9 %
10 U YE HTUT WIN T 218,023 092%
égqog§o& Jo®,0 R 0.e %

MAEX'’s Shareholding Structure in Percentage

M DAGON INTERNATIONAL LTD.

W GOLDEN LAND EAST ASIA DEVELOPMENT
PUBLIC CO,, LTD.
SIT LWIN, U

B THURANE AUNG, U

43.76%

= WILLOW MYANMAR INVESTMENT
COMPANY LIMITED
Daw Yan Lin

® U Phone Phone Naing

m MYANMAR CREATIVE BUSINESS

® Daw Khin Htar Win

W YE HTUT WIN, U

W Others
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Number of Issued and Fully Paid-Up Shares: 23,804,946 shares
Class of Shares: Ordinary Shares
Voting Rights: One Vote Per Share

Range of Shares No.of Shareholders Percentage No.of Shares Percentage
1-100 792 33.06% 41,560 0.17%
101-1000 979 40.86% 468,403 1.97%
1001-2000 221 9.22% 342,318 1.47%
2001-3000 91 3.80% 234,403 0.98%
3001-4000 38 1.59% 135,182 0.57%
4001-5000 46 1.92% 223,644 0.94%
5001-6000 46 1.92% 258,126 1.08%
6001-7000 13 0.54% 83,929 0.35%
7001-8000 9 0.38% 70,170 0.29%
8001-9000 O 0.21% 43,103 0.18%
9001-10000 41 1.71% 408,739 1.72%
10001-100000 89 3.71% 2,671,934 11.22%
100001 & up 26 1.09% 18,823,435 79.07%

23,804,946

Board of Directors, Related Parties, Key Management and Compliance Officer
Remuneration (salary, honorarium, bonus, total remuneration) Kyat in Millions
( April 24- Mar 25)

REMUNERATION ALLOWANCE
BASE/FIXED

BAND & NAME OF SSAI{ARY FOR MEETING

DIRECTOR ATTENDANCE
1 9 Director (Package) - 60 49 109
2 4 Independent Director 58 26 22 106
: : YCDC R(_apresentative 14 6 4 24

Director

2 3 Executive Officer 1

95 32 - 227
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Sustainbility Report

Since our focus is on facilitating the food sector, sustainability is a must. Specifically, this means: we
intend to positively influence the infrastructure needed for food availability, quality, and safety in terms of
health, society, and the environment. We are committed to preventing food waste through proper handling
and storage, while offering efficient solutions that simplify the business activities of farmers and
shopkeepers.

At the same time, we aim to minimise our environmental and social footprint by dealing responsibly with
people and resources, and by generating positive societal impacts. Our vision is to make retail and
wholesale more sustainable along the entire value chain—from our collaboration with farmers and small-
to-medium-sized businesses to serving end customers.

By aligning our ambitions with the needs of nature, people, and future generations, MAEX is laying a solid
foundation for long-term prosperity and overcoming the conventional limits to growth. Through informing,
inspiring, motivating, and supporting our employees, customers, and partners, we are working to ensure
this visionary approach reaches and benefits millions of people.

Our mission is closely aligned with our Sustainability & Responsibility ("S&R") strategy, enabling us to
create greater value for all stakeholders. MAEX's operations are guided by high standards of governance
and sustainability, reflecting our commitment as a leading business in Myanmar. Our sustainability
approach integrates social and environmental criteria into the company’s strategic planning, operational
practices, and decision-making processes—translating our ambitions into concrete, measurable actions.
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Commitment to Ethical and Equitable Practices

As a regional wholesale business, MAEX collaborates with a wide network of suppliers, growers, and
producers. We work to ensure socially equitable working conditions and expect our business partners
to uphold the same core values. Human rights are embedded in our corporate culture. Our internal
programs ensure that all employees are treated with respect and dignity, including: Freely chosen
employment, Prevention of underage labor, Fair organization of working time, Fair wages and
benefits, Non-discrimination, Anti-harassment, Freedom of association, Safe and fair working
conditions, Employee well-being, Privacy and protection of personal information

We regularly assess risks in our operations and supply chain and implement necessary measures to
address them. The MAEX Code of Conduct outlines the observance of UN and ILO human rights
standards, labor practices, environmental protection, and corporate ethics—including anti-corruption
and anti-bribery compliance.

Responding to Regional Disasters: 2024 Floods & 2025 Earthquake

In 2024, severe flooding across Myanmar affected agricultural regions and disrupted food supply
chains. During this time, MAEX responded promptly by:

e Delivering emergency aid—including food and essential supplies—to flood-affected areas
e Providing recovery materials and assistance to farmers

e Offering fee waivers or reductions on designated services and facility usage for local vendors
impacted by the floods

Furthermore, in 2025, a major earthquake struck Myanmar, creating additional challenges for the
affected regions. In response to this situation, Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Co., Ltd. (MAEX)
undertook the following emergency relief efforts:

e Collaborated with the Yangon Region Young Entrepreneurs Association (YRYEA) to actively
participate in emergency relief operations

e Provided temporary shelter, food, and drinking water to individuals displaced by the earthquake

e Assessed and upgraded the structural resilience of market infrastructure to withstand earthquakes
up to a Richter scale of 8

¢ Contributed to reconstruction programs in collaboration with local authorities and civil society
organizations

These efforts reaffirm MAEX’s role as a socially responsible and responsive organization, committed
to long-term recovery and support for our communities.

SDG Alignment and Reporting

MAEX continues to support the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). We have
mapped the 17 SDGs to our material issues and strategy, and have prioritized 10 SDGs most relevant
to our mission. Our performance against these is highlighted throughout the report, using clear
indicators to track progress.

We believe that as a responsible business, we can significantly contribute to the global agenda on
sustainable development. Despite ongoing challenges such as the COVID-19 pandemic and natural
disasters, MAEX remains steadfast in its sustainability commitments.

SDGs is highlighted throughout this report.
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Our business: wholesale market, and real estate
services, and it has creates job opportunities along
the supply chain, from farmers and producers to
wholesalers, retailers, and market vendors.

By ensuring efficient and sustainable management
of wholesale markets, our market ensuring that
essential items are available at affordable prices and
this lead reducing the economic burden on low-
income individuals and families.

By ensuring efficient and sustainable management
of wholesale markets, our market ensuring that
essential items are available at affordable prices and
this lead reducing the economic burden on low-
income individuals and families.

By providing a platform for smallholder farmers and
small-scale entrepreneurs to access to larger
markets and buyers. By enabling small-scale farmers
to sell their produce in bulk, they can achieve better
prices and economic stability, which can contribute
to poverty reduction.

By signing an MOU with UAB, AYA, and a bank, and
providing financial resources to shopkeepers, loans
help businesses grow, create jobs, and increase
incomes, thereby reducing poverty. Increased
employment opportunities enable individuals and
communities to improve their living standards.
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e aiming to ensure healthy lives and well-being for all of our stakeholders.

¢ We are engaged in minimizing risks of negative impact on people due to our activities.

e Offer training and educational programs to stakeholders, including retailers and shopkeepers, on health and
hygiene best practices.
e Engage with local health authorities and medical professionals to support health initiatives and public health

campaigns.
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SD GOAL 4. Quality Education
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e Supporting education and knowledge sharing.

e Offering employee workshops, seminars, and courses that

enhance their skills in areas such as customer service, logistics, communication, and business management.
e Incorporate IT training for employees and shopkeepers to equip them with digital literacy skills.



n et g.:::::&‘:ﬁ%;::::;:;;;:‘:sa;; Sustainbility Report

(MAEX S Annual Report 2024- 2025)

npe S48
SD GOAL 5. Gender Equality

080062gqPiEd oS 0EE00GIMVMSE oG  3g¢mcubigPgfeofgllys 0y$Sadsicodesigst
Gepog0>ea038: oxprecngiop pBgigo? [gEootlgty

o 0500528, 08 oG 8038 3a§jp0ds o B: doCfgta

o 0860360 832908qepon: (P)esep3a505 2§jpo08:0008: JloCgCs

o Boogpilgdoopd 0§codigp3a0z0 BigigEaraleom saofEdonglyp: qfeolgta

e Promoting gender equality within our workplace and market by ensuring equal pay and opportunities for all
employees.

e 3 Women on our Board of Directors out of 14.
e 1in 3 of our C-Level is a woman.

e Offering generous parental leave policies and support for employees who are parents.
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SD GOAL 6. Clean Water and Sanitation
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e We are committed to reducing our water consumption and increase recycling.

e Placing (25 liter) water purifiers for Community Use in the market that can filter bacteria and germs etc.
e Wastewater to be properly discharged into the environment.

e Clean water supply to wash fruits and vegetable.

e Using BIO septic tanks for proper sewage treatment.

e Collecting rainwater for non-potable purposes, such as cleaning toilet to reduce the demand on freshwater sources.
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SD GOAL 7. Affordable and Clean Energy
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We deploy programs to improve energy efficiency in all our activities.

Implemented a pilot project at Market Building (1) where 124 kilowatts of solar panels have been installed on the
rooftop.

Replacement of energy saving lights. ( LED Lighting).

Encourage the use of sustainable and eco-friendly packaging materials and minimize waste by seperating some of
the organic waste for animal feed raw materials.

Maximise natural lighting.
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SD GOAL 8. Decent Work and Economic Growth
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Zero tolerance on forced labor.

Offer fair wages, benefits, and opportunities for growth to employees and suppliers, ensuring decent work
conditions.

Invest in employee training and development to enhance skills and productivity.

We assess and mitigate social risks in our extended supply chain.

We focus on providing a safe workplace.

Force Labour = 0

Minimize accident at work place
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SD GOAL 9. Industry, Innovation and
Infrastructure
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e We share information to encourage and promote innovation to various stakeholder and development partners,

research institutes throughout the world.
e Ensure that our vegetable wholesale market has modern and efficient infrastructure.

e Adopt innovative technologies and digital solutions to improve market operations and embrace digital platforms
for ordering and communication to enhance efficiency.
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SD GOAL 10. Reduced Inqualities
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¢ We promote equal opportunities for all regardless of their disability.

e Supporting the equality of opportunity, treatment and outcome for our emlpoyees.

¢ Implementation and enforcing policies and practices to ensure non discrimination such as recruitment, promotions
and accessibility of the workplace.

e Policy in place to hire disability, various sexual orientation, religious.
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m SD GOAL 12- Responsible Consumption and Production
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¢ We minimize waste in landfill; we reduce our consumption of chemicals and eliminate hazardous materials.

e Recycling of packing materials and use of Natural packing materials.

e Optimize transportation routes and use energy-efficient vehicles to reduce carbon emissions.

e Implement energy-saving measures within the market by using LED High Bay to reduce energy consumption.
e Garbage compactor to minimise trips to landfills.
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SD GOAL -13. Climate Action
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e  We deploy programs to reduce our GHG emissions. In our business operations, we are actively working to

decrease annual energy consumption and water usage in the market. As the volume of market-generated waste
rises, we are committed to selling it for reuse, such as animal feed, to promote sustainability and prevent wastage.

e By actively organizing in the Moonsoon tree-plantation, we are harnessing the power of nature to fight climate change.

e Through our commitment to SD Goal 13, we aim to reduce our carbon footprint and promote sustainable practices
in every aspect of our business.

e We are trying to reduce the amount of water used in operations as much as possible and to mitigate the rise in
electricity consumption resulting from construction and market buildings, we are adopting solar energy as a
sustainable alternative. We recycles organic waste from our market as animal feed, processing average 225.54
tons per month, which is 30.27% of the total waste generated.
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Sustaining Long-Term Profitability

Our commitment to long-term sustainability remains central to our enduring business success. To achieve sustainable
growth, our strategies are designed to strengthen financial performance, reduce risks, enhance our corporate reputation
among stakeholders, and reinforce our position as a market leader.

During the 2024-2025 financial year, rental income from newly constructed and expanded market halls increased
significantly, while infrastructure development in Project Phase (2) also contributed to higher parking revenues, which
rose by 36% compared to the previous year. On the construction side, we invested further in expanding public area
facilities and developing additional shop houses, thereby unlocking new opportunities for growth and improving
operational efficiency.

In terms of operational stability and profitability, from April 2024 to March 2025, the management of Thilawa Wholesale
Market, together with the sales of shop houses and medium wholesale halls, generated MMK 26.69 billion in revenue,
marking a record-breaking year.

Furthermore, we are expanding our business operations with the initiation of a new project in Shan State. This project
represents a vital step in broadening our nationwide presence and creating new pathways for sustainable revenue
growth. Aligned with our long-term vision, the Shan State project is designed to strengthen regional market connectivity,
foster greater trade opportunities, and contribute to the socio-economic development of the region, while building
towards sustainable nationwide market networks.
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Our People
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Diversity and Inclusion

Diversity has been part of our corporate DNA and remains one of our strategic priorities. We are convinced that
diversity and inclusion bring value to our business through effective innovation, attractiveness, engagement and agility.
It fuels our sustainable growth and performance. Our strategy, strongly supported by our management team, is to:

o foster an inclusive culture

e provide equal opportunities for career development and advancement, regardless of gender, ethnicity, age and
culture

o diversify our workforce by attracting diverse talent.

Promoting women and equal opportunities: Strengthening the role of women in building MAEX's future is one of our
ongoing objectives.
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Environment

To make sure we conduct our core business successfully and satisfy the needs of our customers, we need energy and
natural resources today as well as tomorrow — so that we can transport and store products properly, refrigerate fresh
produce and also maintain our stores and administrative offices. Within our operations, our measures for lowering
greenhouse gas emissions and consequently helping to protect the planet are focused on 3 main areas: improving
energy efficiency and making energy savings, optimising resource consumption and reducing and preventing waste.

Embracing renewable energy sources and implementing eco-friendly practices, we work towards reducing our carbon
footprint and fostering resilience in the face of environmental challenges. Our dedication to SDGs is not merely a local
commitment but a global vision to create a world where environmental harmony coexists with human progress and
prosperity, ensuring a better tomorrow for generations to come.

Among our five market buildings, four of them—Market Buildings 1, 2, 3, and 5—are already equipped with LED High
Bay Lights. Whenever the lights in the remaining Market Building 4 need replacement, we are also installing LED High
Bay Lights. With the goal of reducing energy consumption in the next fiscal year, we are committed to replacing all
light bulbs in Danyingone Wholesale Market with 100% LED lighting.

These measures align with our commitment to implementing sustainable business practices, reducing operational
costs, and enhancing environmental stewardship.

As part of our renewable energy initiative, we have implemented a pilot project at Market Building (1) where 124
kilowatts of solar panels have been installed on the rooftop. This initiative serves as a test case for harnessing solar
energy, and it has been operational since April 2023. We are currently conducting testing and utilization of the solar
electricity generated from the pilot project to power selected street lamps within our market premises. The purpose of
this initiative is to assess the effectiveness and efficiency of solar energy integration in our lighting infrastructure.
Based on the positive results obtained so far, we are developing a comprehensive plan to extend solar panel installations
to the roofs of all our market buildings over the next five years. This strategic approach aligns with our long-term
business objectives of adopting sustainable energy practices and reducing operational costs through renewable energy
utilization. The implementation of solar power across all market locations will enhance our environmental footprint and
reinforce our commitment to environmentally conscious business operations that expect carbon dioxide reduction and
generation from solar energy.

We're upgrading technology to cut paper consumption, and the majority of mandatory paper usage is from recycled
sources.

Replantation, or reforestation, for organizations is a significant initiative in combating climate change and managing
CO2 emissions and so we actively engage in the tree planting festivals during the rainy season as part of our commitment
to combat climate change. These initiatives aim to align with global efforts in safeguarding biodiversity and fostering
a sustainable future for the planet and its inhabitants.

We emphasize on proper waste disposal in our Markets, separate organic waste and utilize some of these organic
waste for animal feed raw materials etc. Non-Organic waste is also collected in a way to recycle as much as we can.
The left-over waste is compacted is a way to safe multiple trips to landfill which we could save CO2 emission from the
trunk.
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Protecting people from harm and safeguarding their health is key for our success. Our market plays a crucial role in
the supply chain, connecting manufacturers or producers with retailers, distributors, or other businesses. Given the
large scale of operations and the diverse range of products handled, health and safety considerations are of utmost
importance to ensure the well-being of workers, customers, and the general public.

To ensure fire safety within the market, we have implemented preventive measures and systematically placed fire
extinguishers in accordance with guidance from the Fire Services Department. Security teams have been deployed to
ensure a safe and secure trading environment for both vendors and shoppers. In response to communicable diseases
such as COVID-19, seasonal influenza, and diarrhea, we continue to promote health awareness and encourage healthy
living practices among customers, shop owners, and staff. Additionally, to prevent traffic accidents within the market
premises, we have introduced a traffic management system that clearly separates pedestrian pathways from vehicle
routes. Through these initiatives, we are striving to build a healthy, safe, and secure marketplace for all.
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During the 2024-2025 financial year, Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Co., Ltd. continued to focus on activities that
support health, education, cultural values, and social welfare.

In order to promote a healthy environment for market compound, the company prioritized the cleanliness of the
marketplace, aiming to ensure the well-being of both vendors and customers. It also provided food supplies to
company staff, and during the back-to-school season, the company distributed school supplies to the children of
vendors, loaders, and employees within the Danyingone Wholesale Market.

In addition to our social contributions, we remained actively involved in preserving and promoting Myanmar’s cultural
and spiritual heritage. This year, we held religious events such as worship and offerings at the revered Htut Myat Htike
Khaung Pagoda located within the market premises. Traditional ceremonies such as the Bo Tree Watering Festival,
Dhamma Offering Ceremony, and Kahtein Robe Offering Festival were held annually, reinforcing community engagement
within the market.

Furthermore, we continue to integrate Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) into our core business operations, with
the aim of generating not only commercial success but also long-term value for the broader society.

CSR AND DONATION EXPENDITURE

No Particular 2024-2025 Remark
1 Health & Safety 15,991,736
2 Community 128,874,570
3 Religious 80,609,380
4 Education 40,942,105
5 Others 23,382,510
Total 289,800,301

Remark: Earthquake-related donation will be included in the 2025-2026 Annual Report.
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Provision of School Supplies and Financial Support Ceremony for Students for the 2024-2025 Academic Year by
MYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLIC CO., LTD (MAEX) — June 9, 2024

On June 9, 2024, Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Co., Ltd. (MAEX) hosted a back-to-school ceremony in Market Hall 4
of the Danyingone Wholesale Market. The event focused on supporting school-age children of shopkeepers, cargo
workers, and company employees for the 2024-2025 academic year.

During the ceremony, a total of 606 students received essential school supplies, including backpacks, stationery, and
funds for school uniforms. This initiative underscores MAEX's commitment to the education and well-being of the
children within the community.
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Humanitarian Assistance for Flood-Affected Communities (July — September 2024)

Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Co., Ltd. (MAEX), along with our partners and stakeholders, actively participated in a
series of flood relief initiatives across multiple regions in Myanmar from July to September 2024. These efforts aimed
to alleviate the hardships faced by communities severely impacted by seasonal flooding through the provision of

essential supplies and humanitarian support.
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Relief Support in Ayeyarwady Region (July 26, 2024)

In collaboration with vendors and buyers from the Danyingone Wholesale Market, Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Co.,
Ltd. (MAEX), Creative Dynasty Investment Co., Ltd. (CDI), and Future Vest Star (FVS) provided humanitarian assistance
to 645 flood-affected households in Nyang Tone Township, Zalun Township, and surrounding villages in the Ayeyarwady
Region.

The donated relief items included rice, cooking oil, various types of beans, onions, potatoes, canned fish, dried fish,
eggs, purified drinking water, clothing, and other essential food supplies.
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2. Relief Efforts in Bago Region (August 2, 2024)

On August 2, 2024, humanitarian aid was provided to 120 flood-affected households in villages located in Moenyo
Township, in the western part of the Bago Region.The donated items included rice, cooking oil, instant noodles,
canned fish, onions, potatoes, chickpeas, salt, dried fish, purified drinking water, snacks, and medicines, as part of the

compassionate relief support.
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3. “Compassionate Support, Hand in Hand... 2024” Initiative
(September 19, 2024)

In collaboration, Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Co., Ltd. (MAEX) and
Dagon Group contributed a total of MMK 500 million in support of flood
relief and rehabilitation programs under the initiative “Compassionate
Support, Hand in Hand... 2024.”

As part of the first phase, on September 19, 2024, essential relief items
were donated to flood-affected communities in Kalaw town and the Inn
Pin and Lwal An Village Tracts, including both local residents and
government office staff. The donated items included basic food supplies,
household medicines, mosquito nets, pillows, blankets, clothing, and
other essential household items.
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By providing timely and essential aid, we aim not only to meet the immediate needs of disaster-affected families but

also to support their path toward recovery and stability. MAEX collaborate with partners, stakeholders, and local
communities to address urgent humanitarian needs across the country.
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On March 28, 2025, a 7.7 magnitude earthquake struck the regions of Mandalay, Magway, and Sagaing, causing
extensive damage across many rural areas. Residential homes, agricultural lands, water supply systems, and household
items were severely affected. In alignment with our Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) commitment, Myanmar Agro
Exchange Public Co., Ltd. (MAEX) promptly responded by extending emergency relief assistance to those impacted by
the disaster.

MAEX made contributions to the Myanmar National NN D R R N IR T
Committee for Disaster Management and actively 5" R T—— &
collaborated with the Yangon Region Young 62
Entrepreneurs Association (YRYEA) to participate in 2] Q
on-ground emergency relief efforts. We provided @ E«‘ﬁ
essential food supplies, clean drinking water, and & (b
emergency aid packages to support the immediate E,?, (}
needs of affected communities. MAEX employees p @
also volunteered their time and efforts in the ) &)
distribution and relief operations. % c':%

2
Furthermore, the company provided financial t% ocﬁtwc&v:g- {*’
assistance for the demolition of structurally & ?

comp.romised. homes to ensure safety. MAEX g BlosdSimcgs o g 9a6i 0cto o qcfoy, gficd o Jﬁsag?mg&gsd
remains dedicated to supporting recovery and

rehabilitation initiatives, reinforcing our ongoing
commitment to social responsibility and community (;f]\
resilience in the face of natural disasters.
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Ceremony for Distribution of Food Supplies to Employees’ Families (October 1, 2024)

Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Co., Ltd. (MAEX) organized a ceremony on October 1, 2024, to distribute essential food
supplies to a total of 247 company employees. The distributed items included basic food products such as rice, cooking
oil, onions, potatoes, chickpeas, canned fish, and eggs.
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Danyingone Wholesale Market’s Grand Communal Ka-htein
Ceremony (12 November 2024)

The third Grand Communal Ka-htein Donation Ceremony, jointly
organized by Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Co., Ltd. and
families of the Danyingone Wholesale Market, was successfully
held at the new Market Hall No. 7 within the Danyingone
Wholesale Market compound.

During the ceremony, Ka-htein robes and 44 Bodhi trees — with
a total value of 131.8 million kyats — were donated to 31 invited
monks from various townships across Yangon by vendor families
of the market and staff families of MAEX Company.

Morning meals were offered to the monks, and lunch was served
to attending laypeople who came to listen to the Dhamma.
Guests were also treated to vermicelli soup and sweet drinks at
the Satu-ditha Pavilion of Market Hall No. 7. The event was

joyfully and successfully held in a vibrant and festive atmosphere.
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Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Co., Ltd. in
collaboration with the market families of Danyingone
Wholesale Market in Insein Township, Yangon
Region, organized the 4th Annual Kasone Bodhi
Tree Watering Ceremony and Alms Offering
Ceremony on the full moon day of Kasone (May 11,
2025), held within the Danyingone Market
compound. That evening, at Market Hall No. 7, an
organized event of offering provisions to monks
was held, during which provisions were respectfully
offered to 81 members of the Sangha (monastic
community).
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Second Htamané Making and Satuditha Donation
by Danyingone Wholesale Market Vendors and

Buyers (February 9-10, 2025)

Honoring Myanmar’s cherished traditions, the second
annual Htamané donation event was held on February
9, 2025, at Danyingone Wholesale Market. The occasion
brought together company staff, their families, and the
market’s vendors and buyers in a spirit of unity and
generosity. Together, they prepared and donated 80
large pots of Htamane as an act of merit and goodwill.

Continuing the celebration, a Satuditha donation was
held the following day, February 10, 2025. Vendors and
buyers warmly welcomed visitors and shoppers by
offering free traditional meals under a decorated pavilion,
embracing the joy of giving and sharing with the
community.



R:gdpitels 8o053¢

0qC:005C 90:q:8Ec[g800530 cord Bl =:8m
000800 0peBdendiel 80505088l BGes3
0l 206p532603:5¢ PoJEodeepodesn: cong03d
203[g05$[gEloopdu
006C§:00602000020032q99::8E¢ omanzed o
005¢) ¢[ggE:e800Eqadqenr§aopd 20305 cpgaBod
863309 6ongpimacs[gé wfeaqdoopd Bieqionm
3203053, 005:002:0009 07052§ ¢pP:ad 0320$3e0000:
Aloogdi

024256508 Ealg 0069205 rgaBodndel vumg|
0,03 005eePaSEEQs: §o0pdsaRod 0SB Eep
omoSgps (0303603003608 dl§odomgpisé q3EQE
qP: 2005005¢] ad:q:565088e[ga:  eaqpq§Cepd
00cS:2830¢p:  g90d00003 ©2qC:005C  o3:gs
§Ec[gBoasdgeodocdmasg¢ Bodeoloopdi 32,
600 341250508 Cafggp:o? 869838 Eeqo0pd angad
& oqgpoodsoade[god  qOompdgad  omnged
eongeqpad§Eaa:320305 30005004 3a6qE03:dlaopSr

iq:pde03olgse  vecoqpecqepeqpioogd  [gien
320503305 (6)q 8+ Pi5¢005e3Eeomapgad
0b9mpSinomn  qEad38esqgl:  ©upodeaddropds
80§ [BoobocBooncopd Bgobapoledt sl
NYBGP:zpdecl  DaMeeegIes  ad0upod
Bieqean(glomed  meqilearn  aB8odogp:
B
[310o€ Beconeorn @d:q:8Calggpisé 06agSeq)
0300705 380l 99:¢:8Ea[go? qEaBE§E0pd ooam
eepeomnEaniaadlepypisodaqdig coodesdaegad
q§ 0mo8e§dh

00p08:08:0068:0081  1E:8:008:qodsE  0S:0§
CO050meQE03: (00pE:0n$:80038:) GeonadRGGeE
$¢ [Qp03:000566:03 sacomEmncopdend(gliadCep
8302:q§Eeqp:

q$on§[§.conbopBulomnumesgeabecd (YCDC) $&q6
eQ0onie00000gd

MAEX 2005 YCDC $¢ (JJ.00. J0oB) g€ oopolimns:
2068:0081  :E:B:niqodsé  oSeScvaSomseg):
0p56a00058008398  20Go0RegdI: 633005d
0pdsqDi0p0:nb:qpis ¢ g6adcondlaopdu

i
g —
Risk Management S LYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLG CO. UTD.
AANNERSARY | BjonmaioRaSca(B) F: sasefeociefacen gl cSfned

(MAEX'S Annual Report 2024-2025 )

¢ YCDC 20p5 906AlEs086 (Jo0)El J0% = Goonsd
(nSeepiasimn[0ds/q:oss/ cgpadl- cnesadbess)
qPiopqop§adatioopds

o 2g850ea0nt8znamionlmn[godel jo% o YCDC
a3 elggnem(gdeuiegqepd

MAEX 20p5 2060200p0q603Edl§aopdead§omco

32038: 6800050066qE8OMB8:370: 360 EIP0pS D

00p5680005qeRd[g[§:  200deadomm0zEHGiaddgls

o§clon MAEX 2005 65052005005000:6000 3che(oge

3203E:60:68008qupdi

0pSeemnadeqe  360E00pSeed5es0p) 0
32038:03€ MAEX $¢ g&:eloscod: gpssacdl ooo3wo
33 ,30005:00066q00 60g56[03:6020E:60002009358
MAEX 2005 Go:eaqppe$o208§G:ool:adeanadgyp:
[s8edlfgéofqd om0gadeqpilgrpdaioopds 0208
Aloogdi
oaeqEedtepgfioniogp:
00p08:0n&:0068:008¢p 0E:08:008:90dgpssé
ofsoSgp:  coodommmeepliegr  0opSeamnndee:sE
& [Bpod:onodeqim00305 egadiegqlindiongy 836
@ MAEX 26556 cpSeSicopdoodeSaseamnadeomn
el ofdon pEicodeSigpiod  eenglgn
meomntmmpdesd§eq  B:ojpooodeepadeold
2001

MAEX il 32800l05000m6qE326[g32655¢ C0SCSsqpse
o8egyp:aopd [gbonglelyg §eom §[Qpo3:00050¢p:
20305 3326600650565 30305 AdeaNady
ofeon  mefgeaesgbangEalaoddi  woimcgsses
g€ MAEX 2005 B=abeomm  egadiegqliznognd
adeanodeon  g8degyp:iald  gpegSEfgEio§ilon
MRl pbeent meomiancpbesd8East & [
eep eomqjumedl g€ m§ad5gdqpgbandiep
cScS:c0pSocdogpeciqrodyp  DaGeEG(gsacs
$¢ =poommanad 88052000  soEooodeepady
0069 §agEaopdi

Blg€ 0x§63el comqjummng wessdEes: /
e@:a3E(Shop House) gpseepCeqgla  ¢o:qdigCs
20680081 !E:B:nigodsCosies  coadomieg)

¢2:q03gCes¢  00509:08038eepliqgtie  gfconopd



i
- MYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLIC CO., LTD. R k M t
e I e e ) IS anagemen
CELEBRATION | :?nnn.‘mn\tfn.n._..i,;mq.::nm_gma:.:;

(MAEX'S Annual Report 2024-2025)

o8eggp:aopd  opolimnSicvndomiegr  00pSeeon0s
GeE320305 06805mdesm0  IEoMZM(ges[gEs
[g6coep 2a8dlupsdgp:  cepliqCer  ©2:q6:8Eq
gdigpdSmedlogé  goopSesdloopd  wof:gbiepd
32505 650p5a8 0o 0y§50361 coamee: Sac[gacs
o3 08805c0§EdlaopSi

-m0Sg  PEBEemEmo§odyp: 0050005
[g€orcbesepdadaq€omrgadel  ooameemaeszaco:

205 080g8:qi058:ag0:8 Eaopdi

-6e00050006asE[gS[gzes:  spe[gdmaeaonadaasiqp:
3¢ qC:8:g6$q530305 mgaBmes(gEangindgps
20822600051

-pgB:es[gE 34,6000 WEeES3Eendgpia:
g g0l :20460:3(gEs 03:q),200$[gC:qp:§[3s o5
§gogosdlon  opgaBeionamee:  sac[gmeesod  ad:of
200566p05602051

cQpd$SoqradBapieqpliqglisé con5e3Eeomgonag

qp:

*  Shop House gpz@l j0%03 YCDC 802 gésdoo:e
o o 60pdigdieadlss (G:8i9sr08mc805
64qopdi 0q§§0opd ©o%el eeplaqglio q§$ce
poefesiolegaopd MAEX 6 860539007088
qPael edoeswonEan eonpSdloopdi

¢ YCDC s0:60:22608050009 j0% 6205 Shop House

gpeel 20p5[gEoedlodeqigpicoaddde) (Bewrah)

eaqRspdee) eepliqgt:o8Edloopd

oodofioyCedlep sdigpcolg

Ge00050006qE0d: g50dugpS: 8de8300p5 eaqRd
0pe0050[go5Q [§pgeecg0d codecondambesepe dloé
e5[Gs 2a30lg&0d0godigpieondeo
od5oSioq€mncd] cnoomgpel qpogpiesonEgodagp:
[s€ soogpSom coodeepadaqp: §EaBEqSEToopS
oopdeamodeqeapdesiod 869539038 eagpyes!
[9$copdmoogifyasse  Beepodgr  gRobefolyn
6§20589:32008RE & o§od [Feensgla Bo3S:c
2pd:eo 2YE$E  oddoSiomned Bdo3Si
200566padq0336dl 2005eepadefeodloop

85336416958 poesalopC:adEep ah:gedCagqp:
88036800Eg05q005

200000

8symreqpa06000 00000906

6a00050066qEpesigp:  6aonéqodepogé eE0ddl

$5ip003qpist 0p50piapbepdiapio? cgodgaqdloogh

o 0pbeanndeqpdesizognd
Gaad0pdgeaptep pdapiagdspbigp:

32680005358

o 680005000eaE0Csige codinCicd[geadEep
cpbapiapdspdgp:

2002000508 Eamngudee:adEep Qeléleet:
@O

o 2000600:0635E WEG:6505:qp:

3200053 p0e35E VEAd:RO5p5:gPis¢ 3880550
eaonqodglioqdlon  ooepgadsqgls  sahelogicos
caonéqglagps edleilnd8Eapd g omqegps§dloopSe

$brpoesqpigbeopd codgoocmnbgodeeiapghony
0§603  Bsymeqiapbesiel  c0omosrq 8803005
6320050l0p5:qD:0p5:6:q203 80dsqedi
02260000507 $ 3 EPopdicndagp:
e 68000500565 00563E2005
sBEepopdiqirgp:
e Ga00050066EEMROCS:QE
sB&epopbiqdiqp:
o 00508:0EaB888:eq:03 Eepopdigidigps
s 20060E35E WEB:0505:gp:
$20005665[qdl  0pbsgdiopdind:  pueagpisEenpd
c8ods068008god[gliedeonaelopé  ooep:gadsegle
eagpe[ogesé 30h6[03:60008:8q[gE:035E G603 [0398E
Aloogdi
cqbolopSodestep sinrlEoep
:ooCeqPopsm adeqplagps precast 3805323¢E:
qpa :200sole[g[grrqps ops&n§eqdodepog 320
[g120p5 930p§[36s Bevdelg neweeod[Gs 25050
qps ©03:0Cqp: adeadl 2088031 o c0doisé
2205680t 30§20p5 68005 EEE:ad: &[03620g05:
o5 Sigonodamgelopé  saadgoonsoopd 8038:
qPieeongodepagd Q098 68:000:00050005
680005006608 05¢p: 38cn§E(G: egjsSieonndsamy)
¢ 2830 S[036:0g00:qpiei 005adsmisé Gepid
322:3260] goopde) 226(pE:2005§ 65 (963105

cPleteploplcrtcs

25Pudntsqiee:



32213263 900p5¢) 326[gpE:305§6pd [gcloopd

G6050p0gP:00e  GULIGYI 005VYPIVPd VWS
anigé ovodeddegeuiege 32830532038: cusey)
0ud0p[3eao5cpS: GsnodmyeusegeqpeloPE apdes:
c0p5005¢ 2203:08§0503 oMmaloPqEd e§resicos
[B: s0S0ngBgpispbeei egdisnliomaadl 880584
2001

o0} eqpagoonrang} elopfiqp:

8803m65[g¢ mewramahsE egpoo3DaN03e 03
o3  egpegypiqoaoonalgé  wése[i§odeoisodqs
6omE:8anq8a3¢ co:e0d[glie[g§Eaond sacfgsacs
cobso¢[gdedldon 88o3el onameqeaéonpdy 326y
32653260] 038058 Edloopdi

egcBapuds$isC 0dagdioopd edigedCalgyp:

3p$apgBypiapdemes(yé egedapadedist obagid:
208 52428 Calgyps [031603.98 Eloopd saclogpEien
8803 320%:[qj00pd GeonadpEegEpbesiadionSogods
324piea} [gpbog 08 opEiqecyd|l: egedsdioonpdge
vefopé 880361 ooamee:qéopbe sac[gaacszacal
20056eP0deqP:§$EloopSi

0op§becgS: efefbacy [reseean opigibalaqp:
8oc38:e§on oo ooldleslopodon (eg) o ( §$mS
BLeod opbotamumeqgeorbedddE Gy som ¢
005908 [03P$e0ge[PCsad (Josm) vesdlg dl g
elg[g€aBEomqodmng efom © .96 em [§& apdcs:
206I20003)6g68353l00p5

ocoonslgllgqodfgé YCDC $& MAEX o3 cpbes:
206oNopmyds¢ MIC g[ggodd clgefor (o.99)
s eologf  BocBEiwbcSigp:  3eomEs0pdEEd
GeonEQodaqEdgRp  pOc&BocBEiondondidl  qu%
6800Eg0d(Ge8:[d: [gBloopd

3BeecnEgadbagodsiod  wo9sbmopls  moloBteniads
8868l gonbqoa3 qEaBE5q0pden  YCDC (Ggiqp: 5o8)
i op.E.JoJ; Gaguledfsé “oddqodlliose [ghopd
oge[gpCs qupg§eecatgaded [gdaopd elgeon( jo)edlogé
[302E8E[gqedlgé ompSeamnadaqodsf Gom  codesigps
g 0nodel8¢ com qflgbelopls” $C  c0dog)
Jo-0-JoJ§) 65g0len[g¢ “grodoadSiclgedomn o J.qo em
¢ Joson eagqps] 6 .90 son [§€ s005c0056a00Egndes”

©
- p ] MAEX
Risk Management S vanar AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLG Co, LTD
[ AANVERSARY | (G5 ancinReReA(B) F: sysaSascheSBons mye Sbiened

(MAEX'S Annual Report 2024-2025 )

og|olgEeoqibades saclopElogpanfglielopé YCDC
& 6e0005000gE[gBsapdse oopdesmadagodseom

6/ G b Shop House 22Gson0dmd: jo d: |
§:226800052088(0)ds infra coOcssqp: [§Beoon  Main
320830905 C&ie[B038 6e0nEgodaonif: 19eadl
cpboigpigbooniqoopben  (o)pbeorplorpfaéesifade
MP:es[gE 36800093 : 6800050050 gPi$E
Shop House [03eo€ouSupoonongpesan:  Guseagpoopd
eagdelogiegaadieno egeloedigiaqpign qEadaagod
§ioloopS

a3dlg) 86038 00E4ldl cgulgpead elgen Jo ¢o YCDC 3¢
80038s0[gmo[gd 2005005 confBiybfgs YCDC $& MAEX
03 q|6adoon00pd B6038: vdesroneomoREgtsE MIC
2Clged A 8ocBSielge§unesdlggedadn’ odomsaged
8EEeoHI0o005 g @0pd: 30080l 20005080
00€[goon:ilaopdi oo 8038: cwdesaoeomoy oogdst
MIC g&[ggedd clgefomn =038  ceongod g
oxfepSin B8csoasfgh offFpSoqfnotdoo
cpbefiadbep o=g:§Ealgqp:

coScfiohapst obeafid Bo> o3iBEsly o

2001

o g0d:3EpP  Bereaponeoliesead  domiesq
2008 eenndaopSypsaedl smsgiese[gc:

o [gpS0g8:3200:0080005cpEe  (GDP)  ogjeosamn
2opbsfang qoigrgesgmeotmomiisé cpodors
0:03:8E0 m0e0¢36d] 0adeepadg§est:

o 8i:6q:6000EgodesuS0ndy|ogfepy  20qCims:
qPigocgeabeoff: [405q3Eqo} eaqpspdieodt
Cloodi

28e0yyeo0> Bsofgopqpiebep opigrilalgqp:

MgRel g&eecntapden BdosFeqeamnigodesay

g€ oScobigpeel  08eeonemnapdaacogizacdl

o0p58es20p5(gdep 3230 0§006:0068:8:03

c0050gadedigaclopé mgadel Biiea:sE o

6e:306[g226$3564] 68 ar366000%0]E0056EPoS

q §8Ecloodu

[4§0§8esE soodguSesaond apge§Sefaqp:

[g§cn88cel &Ecequ cBgeqn Bigequss cpacqg

me[gmeesgpielopé ad:q:s8508 Ealgyp:

[g§oronepipoear spdspoear pEEd:r6s5:sE

opSsqdsgpizacal 328gudeomadunecies) oyads

[gE:5¢ 8ompbq6[gEiaBelopé ad:q:58508 Ea[gyp:



MYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLIC CO., LTD.
SARY | Eam oS 8.2 52 22, P Se o
..... 5fun secioRoSea(B ) §: sy aaciegiacn syt clfinch

(MAEX'S Annual Report 2024-2025)

Risk Management

The Audit Committee is ultimately responsible for
monitoring the effectiveness and quality of the risk
management system across the company.

Due to the nature of its activities, the company has to
deal with a range of risks which is significant. Therefore,
for the risks, which are particularly relevant at Business
Sector level, their management is delegated to the
appropriate Business Sector Board.

For the risks which are relevant across the company and
which may impact its ability to deliver its strategy, the
Audit Committee will ensure that the relevant functions,
directors and entities are setting and implementing
actions plans to mitigate these risks. When analyzing the
company'’s risks, Audit Committee review the company’s
material controls and risk management systems. Some
of the risks, whose management is critical for
safeguarding the company’s sustainability.

These risks and uncertainties are not the only issues that
MAEX faces; additional risks and uncertainties not
presently known to MAEX may also have a material
adverse effect on its financial condition or business
success. MAEX is not in a position to specify or quantify
financial or other risks mentioned herein.

Risks relating to the construction and development of
Danyingone Fruits, Vegetables and Flower Wholesale
Market (Danyingone Project)

Agreement Contract with Yangon City Development
Committee (YCDC)

MAEX has signed Agreement Contract with YCDC in
order to construct and develop Danyingone Fruits,
Vegetables and Flower Wholesale market on 22 March
2016 with the following conditions:

o YCDC is entitled to 20% of Total 200 units = 40
units(Large trading halls/ office/ shophouse)

o 25% of Net Profit before tax will be paid to YCDC
as land rent

MAEX has to complete the construction project in
accordance with the period mentioned in the agreement
contract and if it does not complete within the period
MAEX has to face paying penalties with daily prescribed
rate .

Risk Management

During the construction and development process, if
there is a claim to MAEX and it's employees by 3rd
party, MAEX has to take responsibility to compensate
and protect from any detriments.

Financial Risks

The construction and development of Danyingone Fruits,
Vegetables and Flower Wholesale Market is capital
intensive in nature and there is the risk that MAEX may
be unable to obtain adequate capital to complete the
entire project.

MAEX’s future financing and cash flows from operation
may not be sufficient to meet such capital requirements
for potential developments. In the case that, MAEX
cannot obtain adequate funds to satisfy its capital
requirements, it may need to limit its operations and
growth strategies accordingly which would have an
adverse effect on its business, results of operations,
financial condition and prospect.

In addition, because of our strategy to use proceeds
from sales and rental of shop houses, sales of fruit and
vegetable wholesale shop and sales of petrol station to
partly support for the construction of the whole
Danyingone Project depends on an ability to sell the
units, and any inability to do so could impair our financial
condition.

- Financial position of the Company may be
deteriorated if its production costs continue to rise,
while, it is unable to obtain approval for a tariff increase.

= The Company requires substantial capital in
order to fund its proposed investments in construction
and distribution infrastructure.

- The Company has deposited or extended loans
to certain counterparties, whose defaults could adversely
affect the Company’s financial position

Sales Risks

- 20% of shophouses are to be allocated to
Yangon City Development Committee (YCDC) phase by
phase in accordance with our contract with YCDC. The
expected revenue stream from sales of shophouses for
the remaining 80% is based on the assumptions of our
management.

- 20% of shophouses allocated to YCDC may be
sold again at price higher or lower than the market price.



Risk Management

Ongoing Risks and Potential Losses During the Year

Environmental Risks

Waste Management is an aspect of Sustainable
Development, which is fuelled by the growing concern
for the effect of man’s activities on the environment. The
management processes to reduce, reuse, recycle and
effectively dispose of wastes has a serious bearing on
the final cost, quality, time and impact of the project on
the environment.

Governance and Compliance Risk

According to our Nature of Business, we do need to
comply with the following rules and regulations

- Food Safety Regulations

- Building rules for construction work
- Construction Safety rules

- Environmental protection rule

- Labour law and regulations

There is a risk of litigation, penalties and fines occurrence
because of incompliance with the above laws and
regulations.

Operational Risks

Increase in raw material prices may affect construction
prices of raw material used for the construction of the
proposed project, such as ready mixed concrete, steel
reinforcement bars, precast components, tiles, concreting
sand, cement, steel welded mesh, steel strands, mold
steel, stainless steel, aluminum glass, wood and paint,
etc. will fluctuate according to the varying levels of
supply and demand of these materials.

Payments from clients, purchasers are generally made
according to prescribed payment schedules. Delays in
payment from purchasers could result in a prolonged
time lag between disbursement for operating expenses
and the receipts of payments from purchasers, which
could adversely affect cash flow of MAEX.

Risk relating to our Indebtedness

We have short-term loans in KBZ Bank and AYA Bank
and many incur additional indebtedness, which could
adversely affect our financial condition in the case that
have to repayment on demand.

Exchange Rate Risk

MAEX is exposed to exchange rate movement. Because
our construction materials mostly are imported from
overseas and exchange rate fluctuation may have impact
on our financial position.

—
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During the tender process, the project area was stated as
85 acres (comprising 65 acres owned by YCDC and 20
acres under transfer from the Ministry of Industry). Based
on land survey results, the Project Agreement was signed
for 82.76 acres, and works have been carried out in
accordance with MIC approval, with about 70%
completion to date.

In the current year, a major challenge arose when the
YCDC (Markets Department), through letters dated 19
September 2024 and 20 January 2025, instructed the
Company to suspend construction on the 20-acre area
and to revise the agreement to proceed with only 62.78
acres. Consequently, construction of 28 shop houses, one
office building, and infrastructure works has been
suspended for over one year, resulting in significant
financial losses, including construction expenses and
compensation to advance purchasers.

The 20-acre area has since been classified as YCDC-
owned project land. The Company has submitted appeals
to higher authorities, referencing the original YCDC-MAEX
agreement and MIC approval, seeking approval to
continue development based on the originally approved
82.78 acres.

Industry Risks

There are four main risks related to the industry risks.

= Dependence on major customers, particularly
the sector which is negatively affected by the goal
economic downturn

- Decrease in GDP per capita which may affect the
average standard of living as well as the level of product
consumption

= Decrease in Yangon’s population which may lead
to decrease in product consumption.

- Expansion of business coverage area requiring
large capital expenditures, which may result in reduction
of margins.

Key Management and Personnel Risks

The Company’s performance depends, in part or in
whole, upon the continued service and performance of
key management and key staff of the Company. The loss
of any of these key personnel could have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s business and financial
position.

Risks relating to Myanmar

Risks of being affected by political, security, economic
and social situations in Myanmar.
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On April 1, 2024, a total of 129 seasonal fruit vendors operated 545 stalls inside Market (1). By March 31, 2025, the
number of vendors had increased to 224, operating a total of 876 stalls.
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Inside Market (2), farmers selling vegetables and horticultural products operate both daily rental stalls and monthly
rental stalls.

At the beginning of the financial year (April 1, 2024), 181 daily rental vendors were operating a total of 594 stalls. By
the end of the financial year (March 31, 2025), 183 vendors were operating 586 stalls.For monthly rental stalls, at the
beginning of the financial year, 891 vendors were operating 2,633 stalls. By the end of the financial year, 905 vendors

were actively operating 2,653 stalls in a vibrant and busy atmosphere. As of now, 99% of the stall units in Market (2)

have been fully leased.
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As of April 1, 2025, a total of 478 dry goods vendors were operating 1,120 shops inside Market (3). All shop units in
Market (3) have been 100% fully leased.

At the Danyingone Wholesale Market, inside Market (3), a variety of dry goods and kitchenware items are being sold.
As of the end of the financial year on April 1, 2025, a total of 478 dry goods vendors were operating 1,120 shop units.

All shop units in Market (3) have been fully leased, reaching 100% occupancy.
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Inside Market (4), seasonal fruit and kitchenware vendors are operating both daily rental and monthly rental stalls.

At the beginning of the financial year (April 1, 2024), 187 daily rental vendors were operating a total of 326 stalls. By
the end of the financial year (March 31, 2025), 186 vendors were operating 324 stalls.

As for monthly rental stalls, at the beginning of the financial year, 291 vendors were operating 767 stalls. By the end
of the financial year, the number had increased to 354 vendors operating 917 stalls, reflecting a vibrant and active

marketplace.
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The new grocery market building within the Danyingone Wholesale Market, specializing in groceries such as rice, oil,
dried chilies, onions, garlic, potatoes, ginger, and various types of peas, officially opened on May 1, 2024. This new
market features 408 shops, each measuring 5 feet by 16 feet operated by 99 venders.
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Board of Director’s Report
This report covers the financial year 2024-2025.

(A) Significant Changes in State of Affairs

DFor the year ended 31 March 2025 (“"FY 2024-2025"), the Company recorded total revenue of MMK
26.69 billion, representing a 9% increase compared to the previous financial year.

During the year, revenue from sales of properties — including not only shophouses but also medium
wholesale halls — amounted to approximately MMK 15.16 billion. Meanwhile, revenue from market
operations increased significantly to MMK 7.21 billion, a 36% growth compared to the prior year.

Our gross profit rose substantially to MMK 13.61 billion, marking a 10% increase year-on-year. This
improvement was largely attributable to the sales of shophouses and medium wholesale halls as well
as higher market revenues, all of which contributed positively to overall profitability.

(B) Dividend Distribution

e For the 2019 financial year, a dividend of MMK 30 per share (par value MMK 1,000 per share),
totaling MMK 649.23 million, was distributed to shareholders starting from 19 October 2020.

e For the 2019-2020 financial year, a dividend of MMK 30 per share, totaling MMK 649.23 million,
was distributed to shareholders starting from 28 June 2021.

e For the 2020-2021 and 2021-2022 (mini budget) financial years, a dividend of MMK 120 per share,
totaling MMK 2,596.90 million, was distributed to shareholders starting from 29 August 2022.

e For the 2022-2023 financial year, a dividend of MMK 120 per share, totaling MMK 2,856.59 million,
was distributed to shareholders starting from 9 October 2023.

e For the 2023-2024 financial year, a dividend of MMK 200 per share, totaling MMK 4,760.99 million,
was distributed to shareholders starting from 25 September 2024.

e For the 2024-2025 financial year, the Board of Directors, at its meeting (5/2023-2024) held on 29
September 2025, approved a dividend of MMK 90 per share, totaling MMK 2,142.45 million, to be
distributed to shareholders. The commencement date for dividend distribution will be announced
to shareholders at the 9th Annual General Meeting.

(C) External Audit

In accordance with the Myanmar Companies Law, the Board of Directors will seek approval from
shareholders at the 9th Annual General Meeting to appoint Win Thin & Associates as the external
auditor for the financial year 2025-2026.Board of Directors

Board of Directors
Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Company Limited
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MYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED.

No. 262-264, Pyay Road, Dagon Centre (1), Block (A), 4" Floor, Sanchaung Township, Yangon, Myanmar,
Tel : 95-1- 7503928, 7503929, 09-889955485 , 09-883016868 [El(E
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" WIN THIN & ASSOCIATES LTD

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Room (2B/2C) 1* Floor, Rose Condominium, No. 182/194, Botahtaung Pagoda Road, Pazundaung Township,
Yangon Region, Myanmar. Tel: 95-1-8201798, 8296164, Fax: 95-1-8245671 Email: info@winthinassociates.com
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MYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED.

No. 262-264, Pyay Road, Dagon Centre (1), Block (A), 4* Floor, Sanchaung Township, Yangon, Myanmar.
Tel : 95-1- 7503928, 7503929, 09-889955485 , 09-883016868 [E5sE

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR MYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

It is the responsibility of the management to prepare the financial statements which give a true and
fair view of the financial position of Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Company Limited (the
“Company”) as at 31 March 2025 and the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity
and cash flows for the financial year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory notes. In preparing these financial statements, the management is required to:

- Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
- Make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent.

The management is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company. We have general
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to us to safeguard the assets of the
Company and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

On behalf of Management

U Win Aung
Chairman
Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Company Limited

24 June 2025
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" WIN THIN & ASSOCIATES LTD

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Room (2B/2C) 1* Floor, Rose Condominium, No. 182/194, Botahtaung Pagoda Road, Pazundaung Township,
Yangon Region, Myanmar. Tel: 95-1-8201798, 8296164, Fax: 95-1-8245671 Email: info@winthinassociates.com

Ref: 183 / M-283 / March 2025

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the members of Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Company Limited

Report on the Financial Statements ’
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Company Limited
(the “Company™), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025, and the
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Company as at 31 March 2025, and of its financial performance and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards (MFRSs)
and the provisions of the Myanmar Companies Law (the “Law™).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA
Code), together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to audits of the financial statements
of public interest entities in Myanmar, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters

Revenue — Sale of buildings

Refer to Notes 2(0) and 21 of the Our audit procedures to assess the revenue recognized for sales
financial statements. of buildings, amongst other, included the followings:

During the financial year, the Carried out analytical procedures to review the significant
Company's income from sales of items, or those which are otherwise unusual.

buildings (shop house and medium

wholesale) was MMK Reviewed that the accounting policies adopted for the

15,617,600,000  which  represents recognition and measurement of revenue comply with MFRSs.
58% of total revenue. The Company

adopted accounting policies with two
different options regarding recognition
of revenue from sales of buildings
(shop house and medium wholesale)
depending on the type of buildings.

Evaluated the Company’s procedures for determining the
percentage of completion, including the reliability of cost and
revenue estimates, progress measurements, and the recognition
of variations and change orders.

Reviewed the Company’s accounting policies, disclosures, and

Base'd on 1.hc facts abpve, W€ internal controls related to contracts to ensure compliance with
considered this as a key audit matter.  \yep o

Reviewed the contracts with buyers to make sure that those
were executed properly.

Checked that cost incurred or to be incurred can be measured
reliably.

Checked that the stage of completion was reliably measured.

Recalculated the revenue amount recognized in the financial
statements.

Considered the adequacy of related disclosures in the financial
statements in terms of MFRSs.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with MFRSs and the provisions of the Law, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion, Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists,
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements,
S
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management,

o Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation,

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the provisions of the Law, we also report that:
(i) we have obtained all the information and explanations we have required and
(i) financial records have been maintained by the Company as required by Section 258 of the Law.

% //f/

Soe/Soe Htay (PAPP - 600)

Engagement Partner

WIN THIN & ASSOCIATES LTD
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
Firm Registration No. ACC 008

24 June 2025
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MYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 MARCH 2025
Note 2025 2024
MMK’000 MMK’000
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investment properties - Buildings 6 19,129,360 11,564,730
Property, plant and equipment 7 21,410,554 17,203,390

Intangible asset 8 1,537 19,400
40,541,451 28,787,520
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 9 5,644,677 2,552,432
Trade and other receivables 10 3,140,344 7,122,052
Advances and prepayments 11 2,476,925 . 2,707,896
Inventories 12 453,135 79,913
Work-in-progress 13 20,523,579 16,104,329
Deferred tax asset 14(b) 120,730 71,616

32,359,390 28,638,238
72,900,841 57,425,758

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital 15 24,999,130 24,999,130
Retained earnings 7,982,413 5,788,578

32,981,543 30,787,708

Non-current liabilities

Borrowing 16 6,596,800 4,638,592

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 17 12,650,406 5,925,623

Deposit and advances 18 15,439,500 8,326,783

Provisions 19 4,008,190 3,658,392

Accrued expenses 20 1,224,402 4,088,660
33,322,498 21,999,458
72,900,841 57,425,758

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the Financial Statements.

Authenticated by:

Director
Mvanmar Agro Exchange Public Limite

Mvanmar Agro Exchange Public Limited

3 4
® W “)
Director Aung Gyi
Myaamar Agro Exchange Public Limited _ 5. Chief Executive Officer

Avanmar Aern Fxchanee Public Limit
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MYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

Note 2025 2024

MMEK*000 MMK’000
Revenue - net 21 26,693,809 24,395,753
Cost of sales ' 23(a) (13,082,446) (12,020,684)
Graoss profit 13,611,363 12,375,069
Other income 22 275,407 261,675
Expenses
- General and administrative 23(b) (3,190,640) (2,805,958)
- Marketing 23(c) (30,131) (125,233)
- Finance 23(d) (435,763) (475,838)

10,230,236 . 9,229,715
Share of profit to YCDC 19 (2,559,521) (2,309,013)
Profit before income tax 7,670,715 6,920,702
Income tax expense 14(a) (715,891} (1,172,207)
Profit for the year 6,954,824 5,748,495
Other comprehensive income for the year - -
Total comprehensive income for the year 6,954,824 5,748,495
Earnings per share (Kyat per share)
Basic earnings per share 26 292 241
Diluted earnings per share 26 292 245

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the Financial Statements.
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MYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

Share Advance Retained Total
capital  receive for earnings
right issue

MMK’000  MMK’000  MMK’000 MMEK’000

At 1 April 2024 24,999,130 - 5,788,578 30,787,708
Profit for the year - - 6,954,824 6,954,824
Other comprehensive income for the year - — - -
Total comprehensive income for the year 24,999,130 - 12,743,402 37,742,532
Contribution from and distributions to owners
Dividend (Note 24) — - (4,760,989 (4,760,989)
- - (4,760,989) (4,760,989)
At 31 March 2025 24,999,130 - 7,982,413 32,981,543
At 1 April 2023 21,753,001 1,559,002 2,896,676 26,208,679
Addition during the year 1,687,127 - - 1,687,127
Transfer from/{to) 1,559,002 (1,559,002) - -
Profit for the year - - 5,748,495 5,748,495
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - —
Total comprehensive income for the year 24,999,130 - 8,645,171 33,644,301
Contribution from and distributions to owners
Dividend (Note 24) - ~  (2,856,593) (2,856,593)
- —  (2,856,593) (2,856,593)
At 31 March 2024 24,999,130 - 5,788,578 30,787,708

The accompanying noles form an integral part of the Financial Statements.
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MYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

Note 2025 2024
MMK’000 MMK000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax ‘ 7,670,715 6,920,702
Adjustments for:
- Depreciation and amortization 1,373,683 1,002,553
- Interest income (132,463) (121,647)
- Gain on disposal of fixed assets - (1,617
Operating profit before working capital changes 8,911,935 7,799,991
Changes in working capital
- Trade and other receivables 3,981,708 (5,298,484)
- Advances and prepayments 940,971 (428,815)
- Inventories (373,222 . 1,972,436
- Work-in-progress (4,419,250) (12,308,060)
- Trade and other payables 6,691,603 4,283,586
- Deposit and advance 7,112,717 8,083,782
- Provisions (415,207) 1,239,413
- Accrued expenses (2,864,258) ~
Cash generated from operation 19,566,997 5,343,849
Interest received 132,463 121,647
Income taxes paid (710,000) (1,450,000)
Net cash provided by operating activities 18,989,460 4,015,496
Cash flows from investing activities
Sale proceeds from disposal of fixed assets - 2,325
Additions to investment properties- Buildings (7,899,916) (21,197)
Additions to property, plant and equipment (5,227,698) (5,745,869)
Additions to intangible assets - (1,700)
Net cash used in investing acfivities (13,127,614) (5,766,441)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceed from advance receive for right issue - 1,687,127
Proceed from borrowing 3,500,000 2,500,000
Repayment of borrowing (1,541,792) (361,408)
Dividend paid to shareholders (4,727,809) (2,778,238)
Net cash provided by / (used in) financing activitics (2,769,601) 1,047,481
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,092,245 (703,464)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2,552,432 3,255,896
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 9 5,644,677 2,552,432

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the Financial Statements.
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MYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCIH 2025

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
financial statements.

1. General information

Myanmar Agro Exchange Public Company Limited (the “Company’) was incorporated as a
public company in the Republic of the Union of Myanmar under The Myanmar Companies Law
on September 14, 2015, The Company’s registration certificate issued by the Ministry of
National Planning and Economic Development was 1789/2015-2016 dated 14 September 2015,
As per certificate of registration number 112387595, the Company has been re-registered with
the new Myanmar Companies Law.

The Company was established by eleven promoters for the purpose of developing and managing
Danyingone Wholesale Market. Danyingone Wholesale Market is located at the Corner of Shwe
Pyi Thar Bridge Road and Palac Road in Insein Township. In early 2015, Dagon International
Limited (DIL) participates in submitting the tender for construction and management of
Danyingone Wholesale Market along with other bidders. DIL was awarded the tender on 31
March 2015 by Yangon Regional Government and Yangon City Development Committee
(YCDC). One of the tender conditions and commitments given by DIL was that the project will
be carried out through a project company which is a public company in nature and will hold
45% interest in such Public company as a promoter/founder, hence the creation of Myanmar
Agro Exchange Public Company Limited. Afier incorporation, DIL was appointed as the main
construction contractor for the Danyingone Wholesale Market construction to meet the tender
condition clause 5(a), 16 of Yangon Regional Government.

The Company has leased a plot of land of 82.78 acres from Yangon Region Government, YCDC,
for 50 years initially with an extended period of 20 years for constructing of Danyingone
Wholesale Market. After the completion of the main market building, the Wholesale Market
shall be opened and the Company will manage the overall administration of the Market
according to the terms of the land lease agreement.

The registered office of the Company is No. 262-264, Pyay Road, Dagon Centre, Block (A), 4
Floor, Myaynigene, Sanchaung Township, Yangon Region, Myanmar.

The Company obtained permit from Myanmar Investment Commission on 25 June 2018 and
accordingly entitled to receive income tax exemption starting by that date and it was expired on
June 2021.

The Company has been approved to be listed with the Yangon Stock Exchange (Main Board) on
12 June 2023. The listing date of the Company was 3 July 2023. After that, the Company needs
to pay corporate income tax of 17% only.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies which have been applied consistently throughout the financial
years are summarized below:

A Basis of preparation
The accompanying financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with

Myanmar Financial Reporting Standards (MFRSs) and have been prepared under the historical
cost convention.
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MYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
B Foreign currency translation
(1) Functional and presentation currency

Jtems included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
financial statements are presented in Kyat, which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

(2) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rates
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the income
statement.

C Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rental and/or capital appreciation (or both).
Investment properties are initially recognized at cost and subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method of investment properties are reviewed,
and adjusted as appropriate, at each balance sheet date. The effects of any revision are included
in profit or loss when the changes arise.

The cost of major renovations and improvements is capitalized and the carrying amounts of the
replaced components are recognized in profit or loss. The cost of maintenance, repair and minor
improvements is recognized in profit or loss when incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using a straight-line method to allocate the depreciable amounts over
the estimated useful lives of fifty years.

On disposal of an investment property, the difference between the disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount is recognized in profit or loss.

D Property, plant and equipment

All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to
recognition, property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses. The cost includes the cost of replacing part of property,
plant and equipment. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized as an
asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced in intervals,
the Company recognizes such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciation, respectively. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized
in the carrying amount of the property. plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition
criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognized in profit or loss as
incurred.
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MYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

D Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line methods to

allocate their depreciable amounts over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Useful lives (years)

Furniture and fittings 3
Office equipment 2-3
Motor vehicle 5
MPT phone line S
Office building 4525
Car parking control system 3
Steel famp & accessories 5
Modular house 3
Site equipment 3
Solar power system 16
Development cost 50

E Intangible asset

An item of intangible asset is stated at cost less any amortization and allowance for value (if any)

except for goodwill which is considered to have an indefinite life.
The amortization method is on the straight-line basis.
Estimated useful lives
Market operation system 3 years

E commerce system 3 years

I Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include

cash in hand and deposits with various local banks.

G Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined using the
first-in, first-out method. The costs of finished goods and work-in-progress comprise raw
materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal
operating capacity) and borrowing costs. Cost also includes any gains or losses on qualifying
cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of inventories. Net realizable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion

and applicable variable selling expenses,

H Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. Appropriate
allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognized in profit or loss when there is

objective evidence that the asset is impaired.

-il-
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MYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
1 Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax is calculated by applying income tax on deductible temporary difference, arrived at
upon deducting the currying value from tax base amount of property, plant and equipment and
investment properties.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and when the deferred
income tax relate to the same fiscal authority.

J Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company
prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid. They are classified as current liabilities if
payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer).
Otherwise, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair value, and subsequently carried at
amortized cost using the effective interest method.

K Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (fegal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation; and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

L. Share capital

Ordinary Shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly atributable to the issue of
ordinary shares are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

M Dividends
Dividends to the Company’s shareholders are recognized when they become legally payable.
N Income taxes

Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognized at the amount expected to be paid
to or recovered from the tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date,

O Revenue
The recognition of revenue is as follows:
(i) For the sale of Shop Houses, revenue is recognized when the construction is 80% and

above completed or more than 80% of the sales value has been received from the buyer.

(ii) For the medium-sized wholesale units, revenue is recognized using the percentage of
completion method.

(iiiy  For the rest, revenue is recorded on an accrual basis. Sales comprise the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and rendering of services in the
ordinary course of the Company’s activities.

-12-
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MYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
P Comparatives

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation
in the current year.

3. Significant accounting judgments and estimates

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements in conformity with MFRSs requires
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses) assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the end of
each reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the agset or liability
affected in the future periods.

4. Financial risk management

The Company’s financial risk management policy seeks to ensure that adequate financial resources
are available for the development of the Company’s business whilst managing its risks. The main
areas of financial risks faced by the Company and the policy in respect of these risks are set out as
follows:

(a) Foreign exchange risk

There is no foreign exchange risk during the reporting period. The Company had minimized
the foreign currency balance in bank to avoid from unexpected losses for the foreign exchange
rate fluctuations.

(b) Credit risk

There are carrying amount of bank deposits, other receivables, prepayment and deposits
included in the financial statements of the company. However, the Company had made
necessary arrangement by laying down policy so that risk is at a minimum.

(c) Market risk

The Company is operating in Yangon and there is no impact of movement in foreign market
risk.

(d) Liquidity and cash flow risks
The Company monitors and maintains a level of bank balances deemed adequate by the
directors to finance the operation and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash flow.
5. Capital management

The Company’s capital management major objective is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit
rating and working capital ratios to support its business developments and maximize shareholder
value.

The Company manages its capital structures and ensures that it meets its financial obligations as
they fall due.
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MYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

6. Investment properties - Buildings

2025 2024
MMK’000 MMK’ 000
Cost
Balance at beginning of the year 13,023,372 13,002,175
Additions 7,899,916 21,197
Balance at end of the year 20,923,288 13,023,372
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at beginning of the year 1,458,642 1,183,034
Depreciation for the year 335,286 275,608
Balance at end of the year 1,793,928 1,458,642
Net book value 19,129,360 © 11,564,730

Investment properties are rented to non-related parties.
Bank borrowing is secured on investment properties (buildings) of the Company (Note 16).

The following amounts are recognized in the income statement:

2025 2024

MMK’000 MMK'000

Rental income (Note 21) 7,474,949 5,495,329
Direct operating expense assigning from:

- investment properties that generate rental income (Note 23) 576,413 427,332

- investment properties that do not generate rental income

The term of the contract between the Company and YCDC is fifty years, first extension period is
ten years and second is ten years, and the buildings are to be transferred to YCDC at the expired
date. Therefore, investment property is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
amortization.
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MYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

8. Intangible asset

Market operation E commerce Total
system system
MMEK’000 MMK’000 MMK (00
Cost
At 1 April 2024 115,418 3,139 118,557
Additions - - -
At 31 March 2025 115,418 3,139 118,557
Accumulated amortization and impairment losses
At 1 April 2024 96,018 3,139 99,157
Amortization 17,863 - 17,863
At 31 March 2025 113,881 3,139 . 117,020
Net book value
At 31 March 2025 1,537 — 1,537
Cost
At 1 April 2023 113,718 3,139 116,857
Additions 1,700 - 1,700
At 31 March 2024 115,418 3,139 118,557
Accumulated amortization and impairment losses
At 1 April 2023 67,826 2,769 70,595
Amortization 28,192 370 28,562
At 31 March 2024 96,018 3,139 99,157
Net book value
At 31 March 2024 19,400 - 19,400
9. Cash and cash equivalents
2025 2024
MMK’000 MMEK’000
Cash in hand 31,393 293,922
Cash at banks* 5,613,284 2,258,510
5,644,677 2,552,432

* Cash at banks include bank guarantee amounting to MMK 150,000,000 at United Amara Bank
(March 2024: MMK 150,000,000 at United Amara Bank).

-16-
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MYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

10. Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables

- Related parties {Note 27 (a)}
- Non-related parties

Other receivables

- Related parties {Note 27 (b)}
- Non-related parties

Accrued interest income

11, Advances and prepayments

Prepayments

Other advances & project cost
Advance income tax

Advance commercial tax

12. Inventories

Consumable inventories

13. Work-in-progress

Infrastructure and others

Construction contract {Note 27 (a & b)}

Advance steel structure
- Related parties {Note 27 (a)}
- Non-related parties

2025 2024
MMK?*000 MMEK*000
76,100 =
2,901,531 7,027,767
71,912 4,445
88,123 81,035
2,678 8,805
3,140,344 7,122,052
2025 2024
MMK’000 MMEK’000
32,808 18,451
419,552 868,049
1,342,856 1,221,245
681,709 600,151
2,476,925 2,707,896
2025 2024
MMK’000 MMEK’000
453,135 79,913
453,135 79.913
2025 2024
MMK’000 MMEK000
1,518,548 4,366,813
13,443,282 11,735,516
5,561,749 =
= 2,000
20,523,579 16,104,329

-17-
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MYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
14, Income taxes

(a) Income tax expense

Tax provision for the year
Adjustments in respect of prior year
Tax relief from reinvestment
Deferred income tax {Note 14(b)}

(b) Deferred income tax

2025 2024
MMK?000 MMEK’000
1,353,135 1,214,735
- (4,312)
(588,130) =
(49,114) (38,216)
715,891 1,172,207

Deferred tax assets, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown on the financial

position as follows:

Balance at 1 April 2024
(Charge)/credit to profit or loss

Balance at 31 March 2025
Balance at 31 March 2024

15. Share capital

At 1 April 2024
Additions

At 31 March 2025
At 1 April 2023
Additions

At 31 March 2024

Property, plant Total
and equipment
MMK’000 MMK’000

71,616 71,616

49,114 49,114

120,730 120,730

71,616 71,616

Number of shares MMK’000
23,804,946 24,999,130

23,804,946 24,999,130

21,640,860 21,753,001
2,164,086 3,246,129

23,804,946 24,999,130

Additional shares were allotted on 5 June 2023. Yangon Stock Exchange permitted the Company
to be a listed company on 3 July 2023. The market price of the share as at 31.3.2025 was Kyat

3,250 per share.

16. Borrowing

Beginning of the financial year
Borrowing during the year
Repayment during the year

End of the financial year

2025 2024
MMEK?000 MMK’000
4,638,592 2,500,000
3,500,000 2,500,000
(1,541,792) (361,408)

6,596,800 4,638,592
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MYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

16. Borrowing (continued)

The loan shall be used for working capital requirements and the amount shall be classified as non-
current liabilities. The loan has been fully secured by investment property (Buildings). Interest
rate per annum was 10% from April 2024 to August 2024 and was 13% starting from March 2025.
shall be calculated on the outstanding balance and shall be recognized as expenses in the
statement of comprehensive income. The loan agreement has been entered into on 20 January
2023 and the repayment period is until 5 November 2026. (Note 6)

17. Trade and other payables

2025 2024
MMK’000 MMK’000

Trade payables
- Related parties {Note 27 (a)} 10,381,049 3,962,459

Other payables
- Related parties {Note 27 (¢)} 4,800 9,600
- Non-related parties 1,967,819 1,690,006
Dividend payables {Note 24 (b)} 296,738 263,558
12,650,406 5,925,623

18. Deposit and advances
2025 2024
MMK’000 MMK’000
Deposit - 854,933
Advances from contract with customer

- Related parties {Note 27 (a)} - 226,550
- Non-related parties 15,439,500 7,245,300
15,439,500 8,326,783

The prior notification has been received stating that the Yangon City Development Committee
has designated 20 acres of the 82.78 acres of land for the High-end Wholesale Market
(Danyingone) project as State Land, and the remaining land area owned by the Yangon City
Development Committee will be re-measured and the work will be continued. Therefore, the
construction work as that area has been suspended.

19. Provisions/Share of profit to YCDC

2025 2024

MMK’000 MMK'000

Provision for commercial tax 23,918 101,244
Provision for income fax 1,424,751 1,248,135
Provision for YCDC * 2,559,521 2,309,013
4,008,190 3,658,392

* Provision is made in accordance with the agreement between the Company and YCDC which
describes that YCDC is entitled to receive 25% of net profit before income tax from rents and
sales of the remaining 80% of shop houses.

-19-
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MYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

19. Provisions/Share of profit to YCDC (continued)

The details are as follows:

Revenue - net
Sale of shop house
Rental income
Sale of plot

Cost of sales
Gross profit

Other income

Expenses

- General and administrative

- Marketing

- Finance

Net profit before income tax *
Share of YCDC (25%)

2025 2024
MMEK’000 MMEK 000
15,162,718 18,848,244

7,213,093 5,312,055
4,071,109 -

(12,857,088) (11,808,410

13,589,832 12,351,889
275,407 261,645
(3,162,213) (2,777,605)
(29,177) (124,040)
(435,763) (475,838)
10,238,086 9,236,051
2,559,521 2,309,013

* Net profit before income tax excludes revenue, cost of sales and related expenses from online
sales of meat, fish and vegetables which are shown in details as follows:

Revenue-net

Income from e-commerce (Note 21)

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Expenses

- General and administrative
- Marketing

Net loss

20. Accrued expenses

Accrued construction cost
Accrued infrastructure cost
Accrued earth and sand filling

2025 2024
MMK’000 MMEK 000
246,389 235,454
(225,358) (212,274)
21,531 23,180

- 30
(28,427) (28352)
(954) (1,193)
(7,850) (6,335)
2025 2024
MMK’000 MMEK’000
290,395 3,523,334
711,809 365,326
222,198 200,000
1,224,402 4,088,660

20 -
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MYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

21

22.

Revenue - net

Revenue

Sale of shop house and medium wholesale

- Non related parties
- Related parties {Note 27 (a)}

Less: Commercial tax (3%)

Sale of plot
Less: Commercial tax (5%)

Rental income (Note 6)
Less: Commercial tax (5%)

E commerce (Note 19)

Other income

Interest income
Miscellaneous receipt from market
Less: Commercial tax (5%)

«2] -

2025 2024
MMK?000 MMK’000
15,225,650 18,934,641
391,950 479,050
15,617,600 19,413,691

(454,882) (565,447)
15,162,718 18,848,244
4,274,664 -
(203,555) -
4,071,109 =
7,474,949 5,495,329

(261,856) (183,274)
7,213,093 5,312,055
246,889 235,454
246,889 235,454
26,693,809 24,395,753
2025 2024
MMK’000 MMEK’000
132,463 121,647
144,337 140,028
(1,393) -
275,407 261,675
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MYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

23. Expenses by nature

The total of cost of sales, general and administrative expenses, marketing expenses and finance
expenses are as follows:

2025 2024
MMK’000 MMEK’000
(a) Cost of sales

Construction cost 10,161,830 10,569,568
Service charges for rental (Note 6) 576,413 426,892

E commerce charges 225,358 212,274
COS for plot 1,060,502 -
Depreciation and amortization 412,935 | 319,183
Insurance 65,527 47,750
Salary & benefit 579,881 445,017

13,082,446 12,020,684

(b) General and administrative

Depreciation and amortization 960,748 683,370
Professional fees 54,300 60,453
Audit fees 31,940 30,200
Miscellaneous 1,037,676 647,835
Salary & benefit 488,524 458,168
Key management personnel and director remuneration
{Note 27 (c)} 195,423 177,339
Honorarium fees {Note 27 (¢)} 72,000 66,000
Director bonus {Note 27 (c)} 86,000 40,000
Securities service fee 121,135 195,613
Utilities 127,148 125,908
Insurance 12,591 2,693
Listing cost 5,157 321,809
Exchange (gain)/loss 13 (2,253)
Tax adjustment (2,015) -
Service charges for rental - 440
Gain on disposal - (1,617)
3,190,640 2,805,958
(c) Marketing
Marketing & promotion 30,131 125,233
(d) Finance
Finance expenses 435,763 475,838

16,738,980 15,427,713

-22.
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MYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

24. Dividend

(a)

2025 2024
Number of shares 23,804,946 23,804,946
Dividend per share (MMK) 200 120
Total (Kyat in thousands) {Note 24 (b)} 4,760,989 2,856,593
(&)

2025 2024

MMK’000 MMK’000

At 1 April 2024 263,558 185,203
Dividend declared during the year {Note 24 (a)} 4,760,989 2,856,593
Withdrawal of dividend during the year (4,727,809) (2,778,238)
At 31 March 2025 (Note 17) 296,738 263,558

The Company declared a dividend of 200 kyat per share for the 2023-2024 financial year at the

8th Annual General Meeting.

25. Significant commitments and obligations

The Company has appointed DIL as its main construction- contractor in order that the terms and
conditions of tender para 5(A) 16 could be fulfilled. The Company has signed a contract of land

lease on 22 March 2016 to pay the following benefits:

1. Contract with YCDC

The Company has executed land lease agreement with the following rights:

» To give to YCDC 20% of 200 shop house to which 40 (shop house including large broker

house, living quarters, offices);

o After the business has started, to pay an amount equal to 25% of profit before tax from rents
and sales of the remaining 80% of shop houses, shops, medium-sized wholesale shops and

gasoline shops.

2. Contract with DIL

(a) The Company has contracted DIL to construct of Danyingone Wholesale Market in order

to fulfill the terms and conditions of tender para 5(A) 16;

(b) The Company has signed agreements with DIL to set off its contributions, 45% of second
right issue 450,000 shares and 35,000 of public offering 500,000 shares, against cost of
Danyingone Wholesale Market construction on 31 October 2016 and 30 March 2017

respectively.

=23 -
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MYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

26. Earnings per share

27.

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company

(Kyat in thousands)

Total number of common shares outstanding as on reporting

date (in thousands)
Basic earnings per share (Kyat per share)

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company

(Kyat in thousands)

The sum of the weighted average number of shares

outstanding and dilutive shares (in thousands)
Diluted earnings per share (Kyat per share)

Related party transactions

2025 2024
6,954,524 5,748,495
23,805 23,805
292 241
6,954,824 5,748,495
23,805 23,444
292 . 245

In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following
transactions took place between the Company and the related parties at terms agreed between the

parties;

{a) Sales and purchases of goods and services

Advance construction contract — DIL (Note 13)
Advance steel structure — DIL (Note 13)
Payable construction contract - DIL (Note 17)
Sale of Medium wholesale (Note 10 & 21}

Advance construction contract — DIL (Note 13)
Advance steel structure — DCL (Note 13)
Payable construction contract - DIL (Note 17)
Advance received (Note 18 & 21)

.24 -

Transactions value Balance
for 1 April 2024 to  outstanding as at
31 March 2025 31 March 2025
MMK’000 MMK’000
1,707,766 13,438,282
5,561,749 5,561,749
6,418,590 10,381,049

391,950 76,100
Transactions value Balance

for 1 April 2023 to
31 March 2024

outstanding as at
31 March 2024

MMK’ (00 MMK’000
9,907,231 11,730,516
895,500 —
3,327,931 3,962,459
479,050 226,550
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MYANMAR AGRO EXCHANGE PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

27. Related party transactions (continued)

(b) Other

Meter bill paid on behalf of DIL (Note 10)
Insurance for shop house (Note 13)

Meter bill paid on behalf of DIL (Note 10)
Insurance for shop house (Note 13)

for 1 April 2023 to
31 March 2024

Transactions value Balance
for 1 April 2024 to  outstanding as at
31 March 2025 31 March 2025
MMK?000 MMK’000

67,467 71,912

— 5,000

Transactions value Balance

outstanding as at
31 March 2024

{c) Key management personnel and director remuneration

Remuneration (Note 23)
Honorarium fees (Note 23 & 17)
Director bonus (Note 23)

Remuneration (Note 23)
Honorarium fees (Note 23 & 17)
Director bonus (Note 23)

(d) Agreement between related parties (Note 25.2)

for 1 April 2024 to

MMEK’000 MMEK’000

1,586 4,445

10,000 5,000
Transactions value Balance

outstanding as at

31 March 2025 31 March 2025
MMEK’000 MMK’000
195,423 -

72,000 4,800

86,000 -
Transactions value Balance

for 1 April 2023 to
31 March 2024

outstanding as at
31 March 2024

MMEK’000 MMK'000
177,339 -
66,000 9,600
40,000 -

DIL was selected as the major contractor as it was awarded the winner by Tender Selection
Committee of Yangon Region Government among other tender bidders’ participants to develop

and manage Danyingone project.

28. Authorization of financial statements

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2025 were authorized for
issue, in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors, on 24 June 2025,

-25-
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